# **Polysialic Acid in Brain Development and Synaptic Plasticity**

Herbert Hildebrandt and Alexander Dityatev

Abstract Polymers of sialic acid can be produced by pro- and eukaryotic cells. In vertebrates polysialic acid consists of  $\alpha 2,8$ -linked *N*-acetylneuraminic acid and is most prominent during nervous system development. Polysialic acid is produced by two complementary sialyltransferases, ST8SiaII and ST8SiaIV. The major, but not the only, carrier of polysialic acid is the neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM). In this review we highlight how polySia dictates the interactions of various cell types during development and plasticity of the vertebrate central nervous system on different molecular levels. Recent progress in generating mouse models with differential ablation of the polysialyltransferases or NCAM revealed the dramatic impact of polysialic acid-negative NCAM on brain development and elaborate electrophysiological studies allowed for new insights into the role of polysialic acid in regulating synaptic plasticity and learning. The implications of dysregulated polysialylation for brain disease and neuropsychiatric disorders are discussed.

**Keywords** Axon development · Brain disease · Cell surface glycosylation · Neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM) · Synaptogenesis

H. Hildebrandt (⊠) Institute of Cellular Chemistry, Hannover Medical School, Carl-Neuberg-Straße 1, 30625 Hannover, Germany e-mail: hildebrandt.herbert@mh-hannover.de

A. Dityatev

This work has been supported by grants from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft, Neuroscience Program of the Compagnia di San Paolo, and BMBF grant 01EW1106/ NeuConnect in the frame of ERA-NET NEURON.

Molecular Neuroplasticity, German Center for Neurodegenerative Diseases (DZNE) & The Medical Faculty, Otto-von-Guericke University, 39120 Magdeburg, Germany

#### Contents

1	Introduction					
2	Polysialic Acid Biosynthesis					
3	Patterns of Polysialic Acid Expression					
	3.1	Developmental PolySia Patterns	60			
	3.2	PolySia Patterns of the Mature Brain	61			
	3.3	Polysialyltransferase Activity in the Mature Brain	63			
4	Role of Polysialic Acid in Brain Development					
	4.1	NCAM and PolySia are Implicated in Neural Tube Closure	64			
	4.2	PolySia-Deficient Mouse Models Reveal Distinct Modes of PolySia Engagement in				
		Neuronal Migration and Axon Tract Development	64			
	4.3	PolySia in Oligodendrocyte Maturation and Myelination	67			
	4.4	Cellular Models of Polysialic Acid-Controlled NCAM Signaling	68			
5	Polysialic Acid in Synapse Formation, Synaptic Plasticity, Learning and Memory					
	5.1	Formation of Excitatory Synapses	70			
	5.2	Plasticity of Inhibitory Synapse Maturation	72			
	5.3	Synaptic Plasticity in the Mature Nervous System	73			
	5.4	Learning and Memory	76			
6	Implications for Nervous System Disease					
	6.1	PolySia and Epilepsy	77			
	6.2	PolySia and Neurodegeneration	78			
	6.3	PolySia in Demyelinating Disease and Remyelination	79			
	6.4	PolySia and Neuropsychiatric Disorders	79			
Re	References					

#### 1 Introduction

Polysialic acid (polySia or PSA<sup>1</sup>) occurs as a capsular polysaccharide of neuroinvasive bacterial pathogens (see Jakobsson et al. [1]) and as a unique glycan structure of a small set of eukaryotic cell surface proteins [2, 3]. In mammals, polySia consists of linear chains of  $\alpha$ 2,8-glycosidically linked *N*-acetylneuraminic acid residues (Fig. 1a) with a variable degree of polymerization ranging from 8 up to approximately 90 sugar units and comprises approximately 10% of the total proteinbound neuraminic acid in the developing brain [4, 5]. Early physicochemical investigations predict that at least parts of the polySia chain exhibit an extended helical conformation with a basal unit of approximately nine sialic acids [6–8]. Due to the negative charge of the nine-carbon monosaccharide, polySia forms a hydration shell, which increases the hydrodynamic radius of the polySia carrier and enlarges the space between adjacent cells (Fig. 1b) [9–12].

The most prominent protein modified by polySia is the neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM), the prototypic member of the immunoglobulin family of adhesion molecules. Discovered as a synaptic glycoprotein more than 35 years

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The most commonly used abbreviation for polysialic acid in neuroscience is PSA but in tumor biology, PSA stands for prostate specific antigen. To avoid confusion we prefer to use polySia to abbreviate polysialic acid.



Fig. 1 Eukaryotic polySia structure. (a)  $\alpha 2,8$ -glycosidically linked *N*-acetylneuraminic acid residues. (b) PolySia increases the hydrodynamic radius, shields of interactions of its carrier protein and increases intermembrane space affecting interactions of various other cell surface proteins

ago [13], some of the first analyses already indicated striking differences in sialic acid content and biochemical properties of NCAM isolated from either embryonal or adult nervous tissue [14, 15]. At about the same time polySia was identified as a major source of sialic acid in the glycoprotein fraction of embryonic rat brain and hence could be assigned to NCAM [4, 16]. Since then, numerous studies in vitro and in cell-based approaches have shown that polysialylation decreases NCAM-mediated homophilic adhesion [11, 12, 17–20] as well as NCAM signaling functions induced by homophilic or heterophilic NCAM interactions [21–23].

However, NCAM is not the only carrier of polySia. A limited number of other polysialylated proteins have been described including the scavenger receptor CD36 in human milk [24], neuropilin-2 on human dendritic cells [25–27], and the polysialic acid synthesizing enzymes themselves, which can polysialylate their own *N*-glycans in a process termed autopolysialylation [28–31]. In the nervous system, occurrence of polySia on sodium channel alpha subunits of adult rat brain synaptosomal fractions has been reported [32] and most recently a subfraction of the synaptic cell adhesion molecule SynCAM 1 has been identified as a target for polysialylation in the early postnatal mouse brain [33]. The latter study also established that polysialylation attenuates homophilic adhesion of SynCAM 1 in a bead aggregation assay, implying that polySia serves as a potent regulator of Syn-CAM 1 interactions in vivo, as is known for NCAM (Fig. 1b).

## 2 Polysialic Acid Biosynthesis

In 1995 two different polysialyltransferase genes were independently characterized in four groups [34–37]. In these studies, each of the two enzymes was shown to be capable of producing polySia in vitro. Initially named STX [38] and PST-1 [34], the enzymes were designated ST8SiaII and ST8SiaIV according to a systematic nomenclature of sialyltransferases introduced in 1996 by Tsuji, Datta, and Paulson [39]. ST8SiaII and ST8SiaIV show a high sequence homology and are typical members of the mammalian sialyltransferase family with a type II trans-membrane topology, a short N-terminal cytoplasmic tail, a stem region, and a large catalytic domain facing the Golgi lumen (Fig. 2a) [40, 41]. The catalytic domain includes the sialylmotifs L, S, and VS, three conserved sequences that are found in all mammalian sialyltransferases and are involved in substrate binding [41-43]. The polysialyltransferases contain two additional structurally unique polybasic motifs, termed polysialyltransferase domain [44] and polybasic region [45, 46], respectively (PD and PBR; Fig. 2a). While the polysialyltransferase domain is part of the catalytic domain, the polybasic region is located in the stem region and seems to be involved in acceptor substrate recognition. Replacement of basic amino acids identified arginine residues within both motifs that are essential for polysialylation [45, 46]. In addition, interference with *N*-glycosylation of the polysialyltransferases and in particular the prevention of autopolysialylation leads to the formation of inactive enzymes [28, 47, 48].

Using cytidine 5'-monophosphate (CMP) – activated sialic acid as donor (see [49]), ST8SiaII and ST8SiaIV catalyze the transfer of multiple a2,8-linked sialic acid residues to, in the case of NCAM, a highly variable, di-, tri-, or tetraantennary *N*-linked core glycan [50–54] (Fig. 2b). As determined in vitro, terminally  $\alpha$ 2,3- or  $\alpha$ 2,6-sialylated galactose residues bound in  $\alpha$ 1,4-linkage to *N*-acetyl glucosamine can be used as acceptor sites for polysialylation [55, 56]. Although NCAM carries six N-glycosylation sites, the addition of polySia in vivo is restricted to sites 5 and 6, located in the fifth Ig-like domain (Ig5; Fig 2b) [52, 53, 57]. Mutational analyses identified an acidic patch in the first fibronectin type III repeat (FN1) that is critical for polysialylation [58] and hence might interact with the polybasic region of the polysialyltransferases [45]. Further deletion and replacement studies revealed the role of an alpha helix in Fn1 and the region linking FN1 and Ig5 in positioning of the Ig5 N-glycans for polysialylation with some but limited flexibility [58–60]. The latter studies suggest that not only protein-protein interaction but also proper spacing between the membrane and a particular N-glycosylation site are key determinants for site-specific polysialylation of only selected protein acceptors, such as NCAM and SynCAM 1 (Fig. 2b) [33, 58].

In the absence of specific enzymes that could degrade polySia at the cell surface, polySia expression in vertebrates seems to be regulated mainly by the balance between the synthesis of polysialylated structures and their internalization from the cell surface, which in the case of NCAM leads to either lysosomal degradation or recycling [61–63]. During mouse brain development, the expression of the two



**Fig. 2** Biosynthesis of polySia on NCAM and SynCAM 1. (a) Domain structure of the polysialyltransferases ST8SiaII and ST8SiaIV with the polybasic region (PBR), the polysialyltransferase domain (PD), and the sialylmotifs large (L), small (S), and very small (VS) of the catalytic domain. The relative positions of the *N*-glycans are indicated by *arrowheads*. *TMD* transmembrane domain. (b) Structure of the type I transmembrane proteins NCAM and SynCAM 1, example for a complex, here triantennary, core glycan with terminal sialic acid(s), and model of NCAM and SynCAM 1 in complex with a Golgi-resident polysialyltransferase (polyST) for site-specific polysialylation. *Ig* Ig domains, *Fn* fibronectin type III repeats, *triangles N*-glycosylation sites. Parts of panel **b** are modified from [33]

polysialyltransferases and the level of NCAM peaks during the third trimester [64] and in the perinatal phase, the entire pool of NCAM is polysialylated [65, 66]. Analyses of polysialyltransferase-deficient mice in this time window reveal that a loss of ST8SiaIV is completely compensated by the remaining activity of ST8SiaII. Conversely, in the absence of ST8SiaII more than 50% of the available NCAM are still fully polysialylated [65, 66]. Thus, biosynthesis of polySia under these conditions is limited by the availability of NCAM as the major acceptor. As detailed below (Sect. 4.2), an untimely appearance of polySia-negative NCAM causes severe defects

in brain development. The overly high enzyme levels in the embryonic and early postnatal period, therefore, might be crucial to guarantee that all NCAM is fully polysialylated during critical developmental periods. Possibly this overcapacity explains that a small fraction of SynCAM 1 is used as an alternative acceptor for polysialylation just during this phase [33].

#### **3** Patterns of Polysialic Acid Expression

#### 3.1 Developmental PolySia Patterns

PolySia is most prevalent during nervous system development. In mice the expression of both polysialyltransferases starts with neural tube closure at embryonic day (E) 8.5 and polySia is detected from E9 onwards [67, 68]. In general, polySia is widespread during embryonic and early postnatal brain development and most if not all neurons seem to be positive for polySia at some stage of their differentiation [69]. Staining has been detected on radial glia of the developing cortex and mesencephalon [64, 70] as well as on Bergmann and Müller glia, i.e., the radial glia of cerebellum and retina [71-73]. The most prominent polySia expression is found on interneuron precursors that migrate tangentially from the subventricular zone of the lateral ventricle to the olfactory bulb [74, 75]. This neurogenic niche is derived from the embryonic lateral ganglionic eminence and persists into adulthood. In the course of brain development polySia is also found on migrating precursors of cortical interneurons [76, 77] and cerebellar granule cells [71]. As shown for, e.g., Cajal–Retzius cells, the first neuron population growing out axons in the cortical primordium, or for fiber tracts like the optic nerve, the corticospinal tract, and thalamocortical fibers, developing axons of the rodent brain display strong polySia-immunoreactivity as well [72, 76, 78-80]. Finally, polySia is present during synapse formation of hippocampal neurons [81, 82] and plays a decisive role in the functional maturation of GABAergic inhibition which determines the time window of the so-called critical period of plasticity in the visual cortex [83] (see Sect. 5.2). Together, these findings point towards multiple functions of poly-Sia at all stages of neurogenesis. Correspondingly, the polysialyltransferases have broad and overlapping expression patterns in these developmental stages [68, 84].

As studied on the whole brain level and during development of the mesencephalic dopaminergic system in mice, mRNA expression of both polysialyltransferases increases dramatically after E10.5 and reaches plateau levels between E13.5 and E14.5, which are maintained until birth [64]. The time-course of ST8SiaII and ST8SiaIV upregulation is almost identical and precisely parallels a steep increase in the NCAM transcript level. In the course of postnatal brain development both polysialyltransferases are downregulated. In contrast to the moderate reduction of ST8SiaIV, a sharp drop of ST8SiaII mRNA occurs in a rather narrow time window between postnatal day (P) 5 and P11 followed by declining polySia [66]. At these

lower transcript levels a close correlation of polysialyltransferase expression and polySia formation becomes evident. Because the amount of NCAM remains almost constant, reduced polysialylation causes a gradual appearance of polySia-negative NCAM [66]. Highly consistent with these studies on the whole brain level, a decline of polySia has been observed in the prefrontal and visual cortex during the second and third week of postnatal development, which in the visual cortex is preceded by declining mRNA levels of ST8SiaIV and a particularly pronounced drop of ST8SiaII between P9 and P12 [83, 85, 86]. Moreover, postnatal downregulation of polySia but constant levels of NCAM were detected in the human prefrontal cortex [87].

Among the three major splice variants of NCAM only the two transmembrane isoforms NCAM-140 and NCAM-180 occur in their polysialylated form in brain lysates of embryonic and postnatal mouse brain [66, 67, 76]. In contrast, the glycolipid anchored isoform NCAM-120 is barely detectable at birth but massively upregulated during postnatal development without being polysialylated [66]. These findings contrast with in vitro data showing that all three NCAM isoforms can serve as polySia acceptors due to their identical extracellular domains [88]. Consistent with NCAM-120 being the characteristic isoform of mature oligodendrocytes and myelin sheaths, the increasing levels of NCAM-120 parallel the course of myelination during postnatal brain development [89, 90]. The lack of polysialylated NCAM-120 in postnatal mouse brain, therefore, may be explained by differential expression patterns of polysialyltransferases and NCAM-120. In contrast, oligodendrocyte precursors are positive for polySia in development and also during lesion-induced recruitment in the adult brain [91–96]. However, for both neuronal and oligodendrocyte precursors the NCAM isoform patterns remain to be determined.

#### 3.2 PolySia Patterns of the Mature Brain

Under healthy conditions, polySia vanishes almost completely within the first 3 weeks of postnatal development, coinciding with the completion of major morpho-genetic events. There are, however, various hotspots of polySia expression in the mature brain. Most prominent, migrating neuroblasts arising from the neurogenic niches of the anterior subventricular zone [74, 75, 97, 98] and early postmitotic granular cell precursors in the subgranular layer of the hippocampal dentate gyrus [99–104] are characterized by their high polySia content and have been observed in all mammals including man [105-107]. Other major sources of polySia in the adult brain comprise widely spread subsets of interneurons and a population of immature neurons in layer II of the paleocortex. PolySia-positive interneurons were observed in different cortical areas, including prefrontal cortex [108, 109], piriform cortex [110], and hippocampus [111], as well as in the amygdala [112, 113]. Although polySia is best known by its intense expression in immature precursor stages, the polySia-positive interneurons of the cortex are mature neurons as evidenced by the presence of NeuN as an indicator of differentiated neurons, together with interneuron markers, mainly GAD67 and either calbindin, somatostatin, or parvalbumin depending on the cortical area under consideration [114]. Compared to polySianegative interneurons, these cells receive less synaptic input and have reduced dendritic arborization and spine numbers, suggesting that polySia is a negative regulator of interneuron connectivity and possibly allows for plasticity of inhibitory cortical networks [114]. As discussed in detail elsewhere [69, 115], the identity of the population of immature neurons in the paleocortex is enigmatic. Besides being polySia-positive, the immature cells display further features of neuronal precursors, like expression of doublecortin and the lack of NeuN [110, 116]. Despite a conflicting report [117], studies in rodents and cats provide substantial evidence that these cells are generated prenatally and maintain their immature phenotype into adulthood [118, 119]. Together with a comparative analysis of various mammalian and non-mammalian species [120], the data indicate that some immature polySiaand doublecortin-positive cells are also present in layers II and III of the mammalian neocortex. Most recently, the first evidence has been obtained that at least some of these immature neurons have the potential for maturation. After massive interference with olfactory processing by bulbectomy, the numbers of polySia- and doublecortin-positive cells in the piriform cortex layer II of adult rats were reduced in favor of increased numbers of differentiated, NeuN-positive neurons [121].

In addition to these examples of polySia immunoreactivity comprising the surface of neuronal cell somata and processes, some differentiated neurons of the mature brain are characterized by a polySia-negative soma while displaying polySia on their neurites. Most notably, most, if not all, hippocampal mossy fibers show intense polySia staining, although their somata in the granule cell layer are polySianegative [77]. A similar situation was observed for pyramidal cells of the hippocampal CA1 region. Although the cell layer itself is polySia-negative [122], polySia immunoreactivity is detected on axons and dendrites of the CA1 pyramidal cells [123, 124]. Furthermore, as reviewed in great detail elsewhere [69, 125], wide areas of the adult brain retain a diffuse pattern of polySia staining. In thalamic and striatal regions this staining cannot yet be assigned to defined cell populations. In contrast, the more prominent diffuse polySia immunoreactivity of the adult hypothalamoneurohypophysial system has been studied comprehensively [126–131]. Pronounced changes of polySia patterns occur during the glial and synaptic remodeling that accompany the physiological regulation of neuro-hormone release. While some of this polySia could be assigned to neurons of hypothalamic magnocellular nuclei, astrocytes and in particular their fine perineuronal processes are a major source of polySia in the hypothalamus. Strikingly, enzymatic removal of polySia by endosialidase injection prevents the rearrangement of synapses and astrocytic processes, indicating that polySia is a prerequisite for these changes [128, 130, 131]. Besides these hypothalamic astrocytes, polySia is found on other astrocytic cells of the adult brain, like the pituicytes of the neurohypophysis [132] and radial glia-like tanycytes in the ependymal layer of the third ventricular wall sending processes into the mediobasal hypothalamus [133]. Furthermore, polySia is also formed by reactive astrocytes, activated in response to various insults [92, 134–136].

#### 3.3 Polysialyltransferase Activity in the Mature Brain

In general, polySia immunoreactivity and the combined mRNA expression of polysialyltransferases are well correlated [68, 84, 137–140]. Despite considerable overlap there are marked differences in tissue- and time-specific mRNA expression patterns suggesting an independent regulation of ST8SiaII and ST8SiaIV at the transcriptional level. Most notably, ST8SiaII is predominant during embryonic development, while ST8SiaIV is the major polysialyltransferase of the adult brain [66, 68, 84, 137]. Accordingly, polySia is drastically reduced in the brain of adult ST8SiaIV-negative mice as detected by Western blot analysis or immunohistochemistry [66, 141, 142]. However, polySia expression is retained on newborn neurons in the neurogenic niches of the subgranular zone of the hippocampal dentate gyrus and the subventricular zone of the lateral ventricle [141]. Loss of ST8SiaII has less effect on the polySia level but Western blot analysis of different brain regions indicates clear reductions in some parts of the brain [143]. First immunohistochemical data demonstrated a loss of polySia in the subgranular zone of the dentate gyrus, but normal levels of immunoreactivity were detected in the subventricular zone of the lateral ventricle and the descending stream of rostrally migrating-neuroblasts destined to become olfactory bulb interneurons [143]. Thus, both polysialyltransferases jointly produce polySia during subventricular zone neurogenesis and the loss of one enzyme can be largely compensated by the other. In contrast, ST8SiaII seems to be solely responsible for polySia synthesis in newborn granule cells of the adult dentate gyrus. However, the prominent polySia staining on the mossy fibers of the mature dentate granule cells is retained in the absence of ST8SiaII but completely abolished by the loss of ST8SiaIV [141, 143]. These findings match perfectly the ST8SiaII and ST8SiaIV mRNA expression patterns [84]. During the early stage of their life the newborn granule cell precursors in the subgranular layer express high levels of ST8SiaII, whereas only ST8SiaIV has been detected over the entire depth of the granular cell layer and consequently is associated with mature granule cells [84]. Interestingly, therefore, the expression patterns of the two polysialyltransferases during neurogenesis of dentate granule cells recapitulate the developmental profiles on the cellular level.

A direct comparison of polySia immunoreactivity in the cortex of young adult ST8SiaII- and ST8SiaIV-deficient mice corroborated the differential contribution of the two enzymes in the hippocampal dentate gyrus but also indicated a small overlap [142]. Minor populations of immature polySia-positive neurons remain in the ST8SiaIV-negative subgranular zone and some isolated polySia-positive fibers are still present throughout the granular cell layer of ST8SiaII-deficient mice. Moreover, this study clearly demonstrates that ST8SiaIV is solely responsible for polySia expression in mature cortical interneurons, whereas ST8SiaII is the major polysialyltransferase of the immature neurons in the paleocortex [142]. Remarkably, ST8SiaIV activity may drive maturation of these immature neurons, because ST8SiaIV deficiency leads to increased numbers of polySia- and doublecortin-positive immature neurons in the paleocortex layer II. In contrast, many of the

immature granule neurons displayed aberrant locations and morphology in ST8SiaII-deficient animals, suggesting a role for ST8SiaII in their terminal differentiation [142].

## 4 Role of Polysialic Acid in Brain Development

# 4.1 NCAM and PolySia are Implicated in Neural Tube Closure

A function of the earliest expression of polySia during neural tube closure is inferred from the premature polysialylation of NCAM observed in the splotch mutant mouse, a model of Waardenburg syndrome type I caused by pax3 mutations [144]. Indeed, pax3 mutations may affect the balanced expression of polysialylated NCAM, since NCAM and ST8SiaII are downstream targets of this transcription factor [145, 146]. The vital importance of tightly controlled NCAM interactions during these early stages of development was unequivocally demonstrated by the dominant embryonic lethality of mice in which all membrane-associated forms of NCAM were replaced by a soluble, secreted form of its extracellular domain [147]. Analysis of chimeric embryos revealed severe defects by E8.5–E9.5. The embryos were truncated with reduced numbers of poorly formed somites and neural tube defects. Embryos derived almost entirely from homozygous mutant ES cells exhibited the same lethal phenotype, indicating that the secreted NCAM is producing this phenotype through heterophilic rather than homophilic interactions [147].

Although not addressed in this study, the drastic effects of uncontrolled, overshooting NCAM interactions imply that the onset of polysialylation at E9 is used to limit NCAM interactions during neural tube closure. Noteworthy in this context are the pronounced effects of valproic acid and retinoic acid on the polySia-NCAM system. Both are potent teratogens in humans and cause defects of neural tube closure with different periods of sensitivity in mice [148]. Valproic acid increases the polySia to NCAM ratio, while retinoic acid accelerates polysialylation of NCAM, at least in cell culture experiments, by augmenting ST8SiaIV but decreasing ST8SiaII mRNA levels [149–151].

# 4.2 PolySia-Deficient Mouse Models Reveal Distinct Modes of PolySia Engagement in Neuronal Migration and Axon Tract Development

Analyzing mice with partial or complete ablation of polySia disclosed the crucial role of NCAM polysialylation for mammalian brain development [141, 143, 152–155]. The first models with an extensive loss of polySia were mice with

genetic ablation of all NCAM isoforms [151] or with a deletion of an exon specific for the 180 kD isoform of NCAM [152]. Surprisingly, these NCAM-deficient animals turned out to be viable and fertile and showed a grossly normal brain development. Both NCAM mutant mice, however, display two prominent neuroanatomical defects (for comprehensive review, see [156, 157]). First was a size reduction of the olfactory bulbs caused by a migration deficit of subventricular zone-derived olfactory interneuron precursors, the major polySia-positive cell type in the wild-type brain (see Sect. 3.2) [152, 158–160]. Second was a defective lamination of mossy fibers projecting from the dentate gyrus to the CA3 subfield of Ammon's horn [161, 162]. Both phenotypic traits must be explained by the loss of polySia and not NCAM because they could be copied by enzymatic removal of the sugar polymer leaving the NCAM protein backbone unaltered [158, 162].

Consistent with the potential of the polysialyltransferase ST8SiaII to compensate almost entirely for a loss of ST8SiaIV during the developmental phase (see Sect. 2), no defects of brain morphology were detected in the ST8SiaIV-negative mice [141]. Conversely, the partial reduction of polySia levels in the developing brain explains the malformation of the hippocampal mossy fiber tract observed in ST8SiaII-deficient mice, which is reminiscent of the respective phenotype of the *Ncam*-knockouts [143]. Since mice with genetic ablation of NCAM are almost completely devoid of polySia it is also not surprising that the major neurodevelopmental defects of  $Ncam^{-/-}$  animals are recapitulated in *St8siaII*, *St8siaIV* double-knockout mice ( $II^{-/-}IV^{-/-}$ ), which are polySia-negative but retain normal levels of NCAM expression [154, 155]. In marked contrast to the *Ncam*-knockout, however, the simultaneous deletion of both polysialyltransferases generates a postnatally lethal phenotype. Although born at Mendelian ratio and without overt morphological defects,  $II^{-/-}IV^{-/-}$  mice fail to thrive and more than 80% die within the first 4 weeks of age [154].

The comparative analysis of  $H^{-/-}IV^{-/-}$  and  $Ncam^{-/-}$  brains then demonstrated that loss of both polysialyltransferases confers a phenotype that combines two types of defects: (1) defects that develop in polySia-negative mice irrespective of the presence or absence of NCAM and (2) defects that manifest exclusively in  $II^{-/-}IV^{-/-}$  mice and therefore may be caused by the appearance of polySia-free NCAM [154]. The first category comprises defective rostral migration of subventricular zone precursors and smaller olfactory bulbs as well as delamination of mossy fibers. Besides postnatal growth retardation and precocious death, the second category includes a high incidence of progressive hydrocephalus and severe anomalies of a diverse set of brain fiber tracts, which occur regardless of ventricular dilatation. Affected are commissural and non-commissural axon tracts. Most conspicuous is the complete agenesis of the anterior commissure. As shown by anterograde tracing of the anterior limb, axons of the anterior commissure are present but lack normal fasciculation, deviate early from their normal trajectory, and therefore never cross the midline [154]. Morphometric analyses also revealed hypoplasia of the internal capsule, the major gateway of fibers to and from the cerebral cortex, and of the mammillothalamic tract. This tract projects from the mammillary bodies to thalamic nuclei as part of a circuit involving thalamus, cortex, hippocampus, and mammillary body (Papez' circuit) and is essential for spatial working memory in the mouse [163]. Furthermore, size reduction but correct midline crossing of the corticospinal tract was detected. Although resembling the hypoplasia of the corticospinal tract in  $Ncam^{-/-}$  [164] the defect was significantly more severe in  $II^{-/-}IV^{-/-}$  mice [154]. In  $II^{-/-}IV^{-/-}$  mice escaping from hydrocephalus, the corpus callosum reached its normal thickness in central sections, but, as demonstrated in a later study, is significantly shorter due to a marked hypoplasia of the splenium, the posterior end of the corpus callosum [165]. In contrast, other tracts, like lateral olfactory tract, optic tract, fasciculus retroflexus, or posterior commissure appeared to be normally developed.

Remarkably, all the fatal developmental defects specifically found in  $H^{-/-}IV^{-/-}$ but not in  $Ncam^{-/-}$  mice could be rescued by the additional deletion of NCAM in polysialyltransferase- and NCAM-negative triple-knockouts ( $II^{-/-}IV^{-/-}N^{-/-}$ ). It therefore was hypothesized that the major function of polySia is to mask NCAM and to guarantee that NCAM mediated contacts take place in a highly organized, time- and site-specific manner [154]. To substantiate the assumption that untimely expressed polySia-negative NCAM causes malformation of brain axon tracts, the available mouse models with defects in NCAM, ST8SiaII, and ST8SiaIV were used to breed mice with different levels of polySia-negative, "naked" NCAM during brain development [165]. In addition to the entirely polySia-negative, NCAMpositive  $II^{-/-}IV^{-/-}$  and the polySia- and NCAM-negative  $II^{-/-}IV^{-/-}N^{-/-}$  animals, mice with different combinations of functional and mutant polysialyltransferase and NCAM alleles were screened. Out of the 27 possible allelic combinations, mice of nine genotypes with different levels of polySia, NCAM, and polySia-free NCAM at postnatal day 1 were selected for morphometric evaluation at the age of 4 weeks. Axon tracts like anterior commissure, internal capsule, and corpus callosum, for which morphological deficits have been identified in the brain of  $II^{-/-}IV^{-/-}$  mice, were analyzed. As shown in Fig. 3 by the example of the corpus callosum, the degree of the axon tract defects correlated precisely with the amounts of untimely expressed polySia-free NCAM and not with the overall polySia or NCAM level at postnatal day 1 [165]. The premature occurrence of "naked" NCAM due to a loss of the shielding functions of polySia, therefore, causes inappropriate development of major axon connections, and addition of polySia to NCAM is needed for correct brain wiring. This strengthens the view that concealing NCAM is the key regulatory mechanism that makes polySia essential for brain development. In a broader perspective, these findings indicate that cell surface glycosylation can be used as a surveillance system to control interactions of the corresponding carrier protein.

In search for the cause of the internal capsule hypoplasia the development of thalamocortical and corticothalamic fibers was analyzed [80]. During normal embryogenesis the two fiber systems grow towards each other and intermingle to form the reciprocal connections between cortex and thalamus, which account for a major part of the internal capsule. Similar to the situation for the anterior commissure, labeling of thalamocortical axons revealed that the fibers are present but misrouted in the polysialylation-deficient  $II^{-/-}IV^{-/-}$  but not in the NCAM-negative  $II^{-/-}IV^{-/-}N^{-/-}$  mice. After correctly crossing the primordium



**Fig. 3** Polysialylation of NCAM is essential for brain development. (a) In mice without functional polysialyltransferases (PolyST-negative) the splenium of the corpus callosum (scc) is markedly reduced (*arrow*), leading to an overall shorter corpus callosum (cc) as shown here in midsagital sections. (b) The severity of the corpus callosum defect in 4- to 6-week-old mice correlates linearly with the amounts of polySia-deficient NCAM at postnatal day 1. The strongest defect, i.e., the shortest cc, and the most polySia-free NCAM were detected in the polyST-negative *St8siaII*, *St8siaIV* double-knockout mice and set to 100%. Each of the data points stands for one of the nine mouse lines investigated (see text for details). Adapted from [165]

of the reticular thalamic nucleus the thalamocortical axons fail to turn into the internal capsule and therefore are unable to meet the corticothalamic fibers. In addition, deficiencies of corticothalamic connections contribute to the hypoplasia of the internal capsule in polysialylation-deficient mice [80]. The same study revealed a striking degeneration of the reticular thalamic nucleus (Rt) in specifically the  $II^{-/-}IV^{-/-}$  mice. Apoptotic loss of Rt neurons occurred right after birth in a narrow time-window, closely matching the onset of glutamatergic innervation by thalamocortical and corticothalamic fibers under healthy conditions. Apoptosis of Rt neurons could also be induced by lesioning corticothalamic fibers on whole-brain slice cultures, suggesting that defective afferent innervation leads to anterograde transneuronal degeneration. The loss of Rt neurons in polysialylation-deficient, NCAM-positive mice, therefore, seems to be caused by the defects of thalamocortical and corticothalamic axon development.

#### 4.3 PolySia in Oligodendrocyte Maturation and Myelination

Surprisingly, the polysialylated form of the synaptic cell adhesion molecule SynCAM 1 was recently found to be expressed by a subpopulation of NG2 cells (polydendrocytes) in the perinatal mouse brain [33]. These multifunctional precursor cells serve as the primary source of myelinating oligodendrocytes during development and myelin repair but are also able to give rise to astrocytes and neurons [166, 167]. Possible functions of polySia as a modification of SynCAM 1 have not

yet been explored. The most prominent function of SynCAM 1, however, is its potency to induce neuronal synapse formation [168]. Interestingly, NG2 cells receive glutamatergic synaptic input [169, 170]. Thus, integration of NG2 cells into neural networks might be modulated by polysialylation of SynCAM 1 [33].

PolySia on NCAM is expressed by migrating oligodendrocyte precursor cells (OPC) but down-regulated during maturation into myelinating oligodendrocytes [72, 91, 92]. During the two phases of oligodendrocyte development polySia seems to play a dual role. On the one hand, the presence of polySia promotes OPC migration in response to chemoattractive guidance cues [171–173]. On the other hand, polySia helps to keep the precursors in an undifferentiated state, while downregulation of polySia enhances differentiation into mature oligodendrocytes as shown in vitro and under pathological conditions of precursor recruitment from the anterior subventricular zone after lysolecithin-induced demyelination of the corpus callosum [174, 175]. In a complementary approach, neural precursor cells overexpressing ST8SiaIV were transplanted into the brain of hypomyelinated shiverer mice. The engineered cells displayed widespread integration and myelination in the host, but differentiated more slowly than controls [176]. Involvement of polySia as a negative regulator in the process of myelination itself has been derived from co-cultures of oligodendrocytes and neurons. In this in vitro system, removal of polySia enhanced myelin formation, but, in contrast to the studies on OPCs discussed above, the negative regulation of myelination was attributed to the presence of polySia on axons, thought to prevent attachment of the myelin-forming oligodendrocyte processes [177]. The question whether down-regulation of polySia is required for the myelination process in vivo was addressed in transgenic mice expressing the polysialyltransferase ST8SiaIV under the control of the proteolipid protein promoter [178]. In these mice, postnatal down-regulation of polySia in oligodendrocytes was abolished. Similar to the transplantation study with polySia overexpressing precursors [176], the sustained polysialylation caused a delay of oligodendrocyte maturation and myelin formation. Furthermore, the transgenic mice exhibited structural abnormalities of their myelin and axonal degeneration. Thus, myelin formation per se does not necessarily require the loss of polySia from the oligodendrocyte membrane but down-regulation of polysialylation during oligodendrocyte differentiation is a prerequisite for efficient myelin formation and maintenance [178].

# 4.4 Cellular Models of Polysialic Acid-Controlled NCAM Signaling

In rodents and humans, polySia is part of the neurogenic niches in the anterior subventricular zone and in the subgranular layer of the dentate gyrus [102, 104, 106, 179, 180]. As shown by endosialidase treatment in vivo, loss of polySia causes premature differentiation of neuronal precursors in both systems [181, 182]. In the dentate gyrus of ST8SiaII-deficient mice, many of the immature granule neurons

display aberrant locations and morphology, suggesting a role of ST8SiaII in their terminal differentiation [139]. Reminiscent of the in vivo data, removal of polySia from cultured subventricular zone-derived neuroblasts promotes neurite induction and maturation into olfactory bulb interneurons [183]. Interestingly, both effects were independent from changes in cell migration and could be mimicked by exposure to polySia-free NCAM. The assumed gain of NCAM function in the absence of polySia is corroborated by the finding that the degree of differentiation in cultures obtained from polySia-negative, NCAM-positive  $II^{-/-}IV^{-/-}$  mice was higher than in  $Ncam^{-/-}$  neuroblasts [183]. This outcome is highly compatible with the proposed role of polySia as a key regulator of NCAM interactions in brain development (see Sect. 4.2). Further experiments revealed that the effect of polySia removal depends on cell-cell contacts and that NCAM-negative and polySia-NCAM-positive neuroblasts respond equally well to polySia-free NCAM. Thus, NCAM on the cell surface is not required for these effects, suggesting the existence of heterophilic signaling. In agreement with these observations, heterophilic NCAM binding has been shown to promote differentiation of hippocampal progenitors from the embryonic brain [184]. In this study, however, the influence of polySia was not addressed.

The potency of polySia as a regulator of particularly heterophilic NCAM interactions has been clearly demonstrated in a series of in vitro studies with tumor cells [21–23, 140]. The prevailing model of NCAM-induced signaling involves association with fibroblast growth factor (FGF) receptors and predicts their activation as well as downstream signaling through the mitogen-activated protein kinase ERK1/2 pathway [185, 189]. Consistent with this model, a crucial role of ERK1/2 in polySia-regulated, heterophilic NCAM signaling was identified, leading to cell differentiation, growth arrest, and increased cell survival (Fig. 4) [21, 22]. A recent study confirms that the activation of ERK1/2 in response to a loss of polySia indeed depends on FGF receptor activity [23]. Moreover, experimentally induced loss of polySia initiates NCAM-mediated signaling at cell-cell contact sites causing reduced motility and enhanced focal adhesion at the cell-substrate interface. Surprisingly, this response was independent from FGF receptor and ERK1/2 activation but involves association of the src-family kinase p59<sup>fyn</sup> (Fyn) with paxillin (Fig. 4). The analysis of a set of truncated NCAM variants revealed that induction of focal adhesion is triggered by NCAM domains distinct from the FGF receptor binding site. A fragment comprising the immunoglobulin-like domains Ig3 and Ig4 is sufficient to induce focal adhesion but lacks the ability to activate ERK1/2. By contrast, the fibronectin type III repeats containing the FGF receptor binding site are sufficient to induce activation of ERK1/2 but unable to promote focal adhesion [23].

Although these studies were performed in tumor cells, the mechanisms of polySia-controlled NCAM signaling may apply to other cell models. As described above, subventricular zone-derived neuroblasts and hippocampal progenitors respond with enhanced differentiation to loss of polySia or exposure to polySia-free NCAM [182–184], and OPCs differentiate significantly faster after enzymatic removal of polySia than in the absence of NCAM [174, 175]. It should also be



**Fig. 4** Model of polySia as a negative regulator of heterophilic NCAM signaling. Removal of polySia unmasks NCAM and thereby initiates NCAM-mediated heterophilic interactions at cell-cell contacts. This involves (i) FGF receptor activation by the fibronectin type III repeats of NCAM leading to ERK1/2 dependent promotion of cell differentiation with reduced proliferation and enhanced survival and (ii) interactions of NCAM Ig3-4 domains with an unknown binding partner causing recruitment of the src family kinase Fyn to paxillin (pax) and focal adhesion kinase (FAK) to enhance focal adhesion at the cell-substrate interface. Kinase activation by phosphorylation is indicated by (P). Based on [21–23]

noted that focal adhesion kinase-dependent point contacts regulate growth cone motility [190]. Thus, polySia-dependent NCAM signaling from cell–cell to cell–substrate contacts may modulate growth cone adhesion and motility and this could contribute to the axon guidance deficits caused by the gain of NCAM functions in polysialylation deficient mice (see Sect. 4.2).

# 5 Polysialic Acid in Synapse Formation, Synaptic Plasticity, Learning and Memory

## 5.1 Formation of Excitatory Synapses

The role of NCAM in formation of excitatory hippocampal synapses is mediated by a polySia-dependent heterophilic mechanism [80]. As polySia and NCAM are expressed both pre- and postsynaptically, the original topic of investigation was to distinguish between pre- vs postsynaptic effects. This was done using so-called heterogenotypic co-cultures of  $Ncam^{+/+}$  and  $Ncam^{-/-}$  neurons. Comparison of the

mean amplitudes of excitatory postsynaptic currents in synaptic connections with different patterns of pre- vs postsynaptic NCAM expression revealed that the presence of NCAM presynaptically did not influence synaptic strength, whereas postsynaptic expression of NCAM increased the synaptic strength by a factor of 2. Analysis of synaptophysin immunoreactivity associated with NCAM-positive and NCAM-negative neurons revealed a twofold higher synaptic coverage of NCAM-positive cells. This was observed only in heterogenotypic cultures, i.e., under conditions when growing axons had a choice of which postsynaptic target to select, *Ncam*<sup>+/+</sup> or *Ncam*<sup>-/-</sup>. There was no difference between NCAM-positive and NCAM-negative neurons in synaptic coverage in homogenotypic cultures. Thus, expression of NCAM dictates where to form synapses, but is not required for synapse formation. Since expression of NCAM and polySia in the CNS is regulated in an activity-dependent manner [191], an increase in NCAM/polySia-NCAM expression may promote experience-dependent excitatory synaptogenesis in stimulated neurons and/or dendritic subdomains [192].

Does NCAM act as a ligand or a receptor during formation of excitatory synapses? Transfection of NCAM-deficient neurons with any of three major NCAM isoforms, GPI-linked NCAM120, or transmembrane domain-containing NCAM140 or NCAM180 stimulated preferential synapse formation on all NCAM isoform-expressing neurons [82]. These experiments suggest that the extracellular domain of NCAM functions as a synaptogenic ligand. To investigate the involvement of polySia, cultures were treated with endosialidase. This treatment completely abolished preferential formation of synapses in NCAM-expressing cells. Enzymatic removal of heparan sulfates from cultured neurons, a mutation in the heparin-binding domain (HBD) of NCAM, and application of recombinant soluble extracellular domains of NCAM and polySia-NCAM similarly diminished synaptogenic activity of neuronally expressed polySia-NCAM, suggesting that interaction of NCAM with heparan sulfate proteoglycans is involved. PolySia-NCAM-driven synaptogenesis was also blocked by antagonists to FGF receptor and the NMDA subtype of glutamate receptors, but not by blockers of non-NMDA glutamate receptors or voltage-dependent Na<sup>+</sup> channels. Enzymatic removal of polySia and heparan sulfates also suppressed the increase in the number of perforated spine synapses associated with NMDA receptor-dependent long-term potentiation (LTP) in the CA1 region of organotypic hippocampal slice cultures [82]. Thus, neuronal polySia-NCAM in complex with heparan sulfate proteoglycans promotes synaptogenesis and activity-dependent remodeling of synapses.

In *St8sialI*-knockout mice, ectopic synapse formation of hippocampal mossy fibers has been detected together with axon mistargeting and abnormal extension of the infrapyramidal mossy fiber bundle [143]. In the mature brain, however, polySia expression on the mossy fibers depends on ST8SiaIV activity [141] and is maintained in adult *St8siaII*-knockout mice [143]. This indicates that ectopic formation of mossy fiber synapses originates from a lack of ST8SiaII during development, when both polysialyltransferases are co-localized in the dentate gyrus [83]. Recently, the role of ST8SiaII and polySia in synapse formation of hippocampal mossy fibers has been addressed by the use of a chemically modified

sialic acid precursor (N-propanoyl-p-mannosamine, ManNProp) [193]. ManNProp can be used by ST8SiaIV to produce unnatural propanoyl-polySia but inhibits ST8SiaII activity [194]. Treatment of hippocampal slice cultures derived from newborn mice with ManNProp resulted in aberrant mossy fiber projections forming functional glutamatergic terminals on CA1 pyramidal neurons with a typical mossy fiber synapse-like morphology [193]. Reminiscent of the phenotype of the St8sialIknockout mice, in vivo application of ManNProp to newborn rats for 4 weeks yielded a significantly longer infrapyramidal mossy fiber bundle. However, unlike in St8siall-knockouts, aberrant fibers were polySia-negative but NCAM-positive and entered into the CA1 pyramidal layer. Moreover, recurrent mossy fibers were observed in the ManNProp-treated rats, which aberrantly crossed the granule cell layer to terminate on neurons in the molecular layer [193]. Interestingly, this aberrant innervation pattern resembles the mossy fiber sprouting observed after kainate induced status epilepticus. Homeostatic regulation of polySia synthesis, therefore, is essential for correct outgrowth and synaptic targeting of hippocampal mossy fibers.

# 5.2 Plasticity of Inhibitory Synapse Maturation

In the visual cortex, polySia is downregulated shortly after eye opening. This decline is inversely correlated with the maturation of GABAergic innervation and hindered by visual deprivation, indicating a role of polySia in the critical period of ocular dominance plasticity [83]. Indeed, premature reduction of polySia promotes functional maturation of GABAergic synapses. Removal of polySia by application of endosialidase to cortical organotypic cultures causes precocious maturation of perisomatic GABAergic synapses as evidenced by enhanced branching of axon arbors and higher density of mature presynaptic boutons [83]. As shown by injection of endosialidase, a too early loss of polySia in the adolescent visual cortex also promotes the maturation of perisomatic GABAergic innervation in vivo and, consistent with a higher number of GABAergic synapses, increased the frequency of miniature inhibitory postsynaptic currents. In addition, a shift in occular dominance, which can normally be evoked by monocular deprivation during a critical period between P24 and P35, could be induced much earlier in endosialidasetreated mice [83]. The enhanced inhibition in response to the loss of polySia, therefore, seems to trigger precocious ocular dominance plasticity.

Preceding the decline of polySia in the mouse visual cortex, ST8SiaII and ST8SiaIV mRNA levels decrease around the time of eye opening. However, only the reduction of ST8SiaII is regulated by sensory experience [86]. Moreover, in organotypic slice cultures, developmental downregulation of ST8SiaII is reduced by blocking spike activity with tetrodotoxin or by AP5 as antagonist of NMDA receptors and enhanced by blocking GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors with bicuculline. This indicates that ST8SiaII gene expression is regulated by activity and in particular by NMDA-mediated excitation [86]. Interestingly, a similar regulation of polySia

by sensory input and activity through NMDA receptor-dependent mechanisms has been shown during postnatal development of the dorsal vagal complex in the brain stem [195]. Conversely, as detailed in the next section, polySia modulates extrasynaptic NMDA receptor signaling, pointing towards a possible feedback regulation.

Contrasting the precocious maturation of perisomatic innervation after an acute loss of polySia, mice over-expressing a soluble extracellular domain fragment of NCAM under the neuron-specific enolase promoter (NCAM-EC mice) display a reduction in perisomatic synaptic puncta formed by parvalbumin-positive cortical interneurons, indicating a decrease in the number of synaptic terminals of basket cells [198]. Further investigations of these mice revealed perturbed arborization of basket cells in the prefrontal cortex during early postnatal stages, when endogenous polysialylated NCAM is replaced by polySia-negative NCAM [85]. Consistent with the enhanced inhibition in the visual cortex after endosialidase treatment [83], a recent study demonstrates increased numbers and sizes of perisomatic basket cell synapses in *Ncam*-knockout mice [199]. Moreover, the study also provides evidence that polysialylated is required to promote ephrinA5-induced axon remodeling of basket interneurons in cortical slices. Together, these data impressively demonstrate that the balanced regulation of polySia and NCAM is essential for proper synapse development of basket cells.

#### 5.3 Synaptic Plasticity in the Mature Nervous System

The first evidence that NCAM may play a role in synaptic plasticity was provided in 1994 by a seminal study that showed that perturbation of NCAM function significantly reduced LTP in the CA1 area of the hippocampus [200]. Polyclonal antibodies against NCAM, soluble oligomannosides that block interaction of NCAM with oligomannosidic carbohydrates carried by L1, and synthetic peptides from the fourth Ig-like domain of NCAM, which mediates interaction with L1, were used in these experiments. Further analysis of constitutive and conditionally NCAM deficient mice (NCAMff+), in which the NCAM gene was ablated in neurons after cessation of major developmental events by expression of Cre recombinase under the CaMKII promoter, showed impairment of CA1 LTP in both mutants [191, 196, 201], thus supporting the view that NCAM plays an acute role in synaptic plasticity in the CA1 region. Additionally, long-term depression (LTD) in the CA1 was impaired in constitutive and conditional Ncam-knockout mice [197, 201]. In the CA3 region, constitutive but not conditional NCAM-deficient mice were found to have abnormalities in lamination of mossy fiber projections and to be impaired in mossy fiber LTP, suggesting that NCAM is required for proper development of mossy fiber-CA3 synapses [201, 202]. Recording of LTP in the dentate gyrus of anesthetized mice confirmed the role of NCAM in synaptic plasticity in vivo [203] (Table 1). Overexpression of soluble extracellular domain of NCAM in NCAM-EC

Table 1 Effects of	Condition	CA1 LTP	CA1 LTD	CA3 LTP	DG LTP
polysialyltransferases	Ncam-/- Ncamff+	↓ I	↓ I	↓ 	↓ n d
hippocampal synaptic	Endosialidase	Ļ	$\downarrow$	=	n.d.
plasticity	St8siaIV-/-	$\downarrow$	$\downarrow$	=	=
	St8siaII-/-	=	n.d.	=	=

 $\downarrow$  impaired, = normal, *n.d.* not determined

mice did not affect LTP in CA3-CA1 synapses but resulted in specific impairment of LTP in the prefrontal cortex [204].

The role of polySia in synaptic plasticity was initially studied using the enzymatic removal of polySia by endo-N, which inhibited LTP and LTD in CA1 [123, 191]. Experiments using mice deficient in ST8SiaII or ST8SiaIV provided the genetic evidence for the importance of polySia in synaptic plasticity in the CA1 [141, 143]. No involvement of these enzymes in mossy fiber LTP in the CA3 region or in the dentate gyrus LTP was revealed using either of two lines of polySiadeficient mice, despite abnormal lamination of mossy fiber projections in ST8SiaII deficient mutants [141, 143, 203].

Several early observations suggested that polySia may modulate activity of glutamate receptors and hence regulate induction of LTP. Peptides blocking interaction of proteins with the fourth immunoglobulin-like domain of NCAM reduced LTP when applied before induction of LTP but not afterwards [205], pointing to the importance of NCAM for LTP induction. Since impairment of LTP in NCAM deficient mice could be rescued by elevation of extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> concentration, it has been speculated that NCAM influences Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling via NMDA receptors [201]. This idea was supported by the data showing a similar central location of NCAM180 and the GluN2A receptors within the postsynaptic density in untreated animals, and a similar redistribution of these molecules to the edges of postsynaptic density in animals after induction of LTP [206]. Because polySia may directly potentiate opening of AMPA subtype glutamate receptors [207], it was hypothesized that polySia may influence activity of LTP-mediating receptors via a direct interaction with the extracellular domain of receptors. This hypothesis was supported by a study [208] in which impaired CA1 LTP in hippocampal slices was rescued via application of soluble polySia or ectodomain of polySia-NCAM, but not of NCAM. A parallel in vitro study [209] reported that soluble polySia alone or attached to NCAM inhibited activation of GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors by low micromolar concentrations of glutamate in hippocampal cultures and artificial lipid bilayers (Fig. 5). These concentrations are characteristic for extrasynaptic space but much lower than synaptic concentrations of glutamate following transmitter release.

Two recent studies demonstrate that polySia-NCAM regulates synaptic plasticity by setting a balance in signaling via extrasynaptic GluN2B and synaptic GluN2A receptors [196, 197]. Consistent with the findings of Hammond and colleagues [209], isolation of NMDA receptor-mediated component in hippocampal slices



Fig. 5 Model for polySia-NCAM-mediated modulation of signaling via NMDA receptors. Endogenous and exogenous molecules are shown in *black* and *gray*, respectively. Stimulatory and inhibitory relationships are shown by *arrows with sharp and blunt ends*, respectively. In *Ncam+/+* mice, polySia-NCAM inhibits extrasynaptic GluN2B-containing receptors and LTP is induced through activation of GluN2A receptors. In *Ncam-/-* mice, signal enhancement occurs via extrasynaptic GluN2B-containing receptors, whereas signal reduction occurs via GluN2A-containing receptors, which leads to impaired LTP. This model is supported by experiments with rescue of LTP in *Ncam-/-* mice by elevated extracellular Ca<sup>2+</sup> and reduced extracellular Mg<sup>2+</sup> concentrations, and application of NMDA receptor modulators DCS or Ro 25–6981, the glutamate scavenger GPT, polySia, or SB 203580 [196]. All these treatments change the signaling balance between GluN2Aand GluN2B-mediated pathways in favor of the GluN2A-mediated pathway and restore LTP in *Ncam-/-* mice. Similarly, LTP is restored in endosialidase-treated slices from *Ncam+/+* mice by DCS, Ro 25–6981, and SB 203580, and by genetic ablation of Ras-GRF1. Furthermore, fear memory is restored by DCS and Ro 25–6981 in *Ncam-/-* mice, whereas LTD is rescued by DCS. Modified with permission from [197]

also revealed an increase in GluN2B-mediated transmission in NCAM-deficient mice and an increase in GluN2B-mediated Ca<sup>2+</sup> signaling after removal of polySia [196]. In parallel, a decrease in GluN2A-mediated transmission was found. Strikingly, the suppression of extrasynaptic GluN2B signaling with Ro 25–6981 or by reduction of extrasynaptic glutamate concentrations using the glutamate scavenger GTP, or facilitation of GluN2A receptors by D-cycloserine fully restore levels of LTP in either NCAM or polySia deficient slices to wild-type levels.

The following data support the view that the mechanisms downstream of GluN2B in NCAM/polySia deficient slices involve signaling via Ras-GRF1 to the Rac effector p38 MAPK. The level of phosphorylated p38 MAPK is upregulated in NCAM-deficient mice and in endosialidase-treated slices, while it is reduced in Ras-GRF1–/– mice [210]. An inhibitor of p38 restores levels of LTP in polySia or NCAM-deficient slices to those seen in wild-type mice. The level of phosphorylated p44 is co-upregulated although to a smaller degree than p38, as expected in response to activation of Ras-GRF1, which has been shown to mediate synaptic depression through p38 MAPK [210]. PolySia deficiency does not lead to impaired LTP in

Ras-GRF1–/– mice, supporting the view that Ras-GRF1 is a transducer downstream of hyperactive GluN2B in polySia deficient neurons. Interestingly, activation of p38 MAPK signaling has also been shown to mediate impairment in LTP by tumor necrosis factor [211], by injection of the ectodomain of another cell adhesion molecule, neuroplastin [212], and by the A $\beta$  peptide generated from the amyloid precursor protein, which is widely believed to underlie the pathophysiology of Alzheimer's disease [213]. In these cases, p38 MAPK enhances the removal of AMPA and NMDA receptors from the postsynaptic cell surface, which is likely to be the mechanism for impaired LTP in polySia/NCAM deficient mice. The mechanisms of impaired LTP in the prefrontal cortex of NCAM-EC mice are unknown. However, the study of tenascin-R deficient mice demonstrates that a deficit in perisomatic GABAergic inhibition in the hippocampus may induce metaplastic increase in the threshold for induction of LTP [214]. Whether this is also the case in the prefrontal cortex of NCAM-EC mice remains to be investigated.

#### 5.4 Learning and Memory

The results showing the role of polySia and NCAM in hippocampal plasticity are nicely complemented by studies of hippocampus-dependent spatial and place (contextual) learning in the Morris water maze and fear conditioning paradigms. These studies demonstrated learning-associated changes in the expression of NCAM and polySia [213-218], and impaired memory after treatment with NCAM antibodies [219], in constitutively NCAM-deficient mice [152, 208, 220] and in conditionally NCAM-deficient mice [201, 221]. Temporal perturbations of NCAM or associated polySia at different phases of learning and memory lead to the same memory deficits in spatial navigation [123, 218] and contextual fear conditioning [208]. Furthermore, NCAM-EC mice are impaired in contextual and cued fear conditioning and working memory [198, 204], and genetic ablation of polysialyltransferases ST8SiaII or ST8SiaIV results in impaired fear conditioning [143, 208] or impaired spatial and reversal learning in the Morris water maze [222]. As the pre-training treatment with GluN2B antagonist Ro 25-6981 and GluN2A agonist D-cycloserine, which restored LTP in polySia/NCAM deficient hippocampal slices, also rescued hippocampus-dependent contextual fear memory in NCAM deficient mice [196, 197], acquisition of this form of learning appears to depend on polySia-NCAM mediated modulation of signaling through NMDA receptors. Another study suggests that polySia might also contribute to consolidation of memories, as mice which were injected with polySia cyclic mimetic peptide pr2 into the dorsal hippocampus (5 h after massed training in the spatial version of the water maze) showed higher levels of memory retention 24 h, 1 week and 4 weeks after the training [223].

#### 6 Implications for Nervous System Disease

# 6.1 PolySia and Epilepsy

Because various plastic changes have been suggested to be functionally involved in the epileptogenesis, and polySia is the key molecule involved in plasticity, several studies addressed the polySia role in development and progression of epilepsy and associated comorbidities. There is increased expression of polySia in the hippocampus and the entorhinal cortex in human temporal lobe epilepsy [224]. Removal of polySia with endosialidase in rodents increased acute seizure susceptibility, as indicated by reduced seizure threshold [225], and lowered the number of newborn neurons following the status epilepticus (SE, induced by electrical stimulation of basolateral nucleus of the amygdala), as compared to vehicle-treated rats, thereby counteracting the SE-induced increase in neurogenesis [226]. Nevertheless, the SE induced increases in the total number of doublecortin expressing immature neurons and the fraction of doublecortin-positive cells with persistent basal dendrites was not affected by endosialidase treatment. There was also no effect of endosialidase on the number of seizures, their severity, and the duration of single seizures [226].

This is in contrast to the results obtained by intraperitoneal injection of kainate for induction of seizures, as mice deficient in ST8SiaIV showed a reduced latency to the first generalized seizure and higher lethality due to SE [227]. In the elevated plus maze paradigm, the loss of polySia in *St8siaIV*-knockout mice increased anxiety-associated behavior, suggesting a major implication of the polySia–NCAM system in the control of anxiety after SE [227]. In view of the fact that anxiety disorders represent a frequent clinical problem in epileptic patients [228], it will be of interest to evaluate further the potential of polySia–NCAM targeting for the treatment of these comorbidities.

Also in the model of mesial temporal lobe epilepsy with unilateral hippocampal injection of kainate, contralateral i.c.v. endosialidase infusion severely increased neurodegeneration in the KA-lesioned hippocampal formation [229]. A significant increase in cell death was evident in the lesioned CA3 pyramidal cell layer, accompanied by strong astrogliosis throughout the lesioned hippocampal formation. Neurodegeneration also extended to the dentate gyrus and led to early onset of focal seizures, in line with data obtained in ST8SiaIV-deficient mice and with a previous study showing that hyperthermic preconditioning-induced upregulation of polySia-NCAM has a neuroprotective effect against kainate [230]. The striking trans-hemispheric influence of endo-N suggests that polySia-NCAM might mediate transport of neuroprotective signals into the lesioned hippocampus. One of the signals appeared to be the binding partner of NCAM - GDNF - since injection of GDNF antibodies into the contralateral hippocampus of kainate-treated mice mimicked injection of endosialidase by enhancing neurodegeneration and decreasing expression of the GDNF family receptor  $\alpha 1$  in the epileptic focus. Thus, polySia-NCAM-mediated modulation of GDNF signaling restrains neurodegeneration and delays onset of SE.

## 6.2 PolySia and Neurodegeneration

There are significantly fewer NCAM-positive neurons in the frontal cortex of Alzheimer's disease (AD) patients than in normally aging individuals, although there is little difference in the levels of NCAM in the occipital cortex and hippocampus of the two groups [231]. However, polySia is over-expressed in the outer two-thirds and the inner third of the molecular layer of the dentate gyrus in AD patients [232]. Furthermore, fiber and neuropil staining is increased in the strata oriens, radiatum, and pyramidale of the CA1 subfield. There are changes in polySia immunoreactivity in layer II and in the superficial portion of layer III of the entorhinal cortex. Thus, polySia is upregulated in hippocampal areas where neuro-fibrillary tangles, amyloid plaques, and neuronal loss appear, or where neurons suffer from a lack of inputs and undergo remodeling. Interestingly, acute administration of A $\beta$  increased expression of another carbohydrate carried by NCAM, HNK-1 [234]. Moreover, HNK-1 immunoreactivity was decreased in brain tissue of a transgenic mouse model of AD.

In this context, it is remarkable that application of polySia mimetic and the combination of polySia and HNK-1 mimetics, but not the HNK-1 mimetic alone, improves functional recovery after spinal cord injury [235]. A better outcome in polySia mimetic-treated mice is associated with higher, as compared with control mice, numbers of cholinergic and glutamatergic terminals and monaminergic axons in the lumbar spinal cord, and better axonal myelination proximal to the injury site. These data suggest that polySia mimetic peptides can be efficient therapeutic tools augmenting plasticity and synaptogenesis. Furthermore, several NCAM-mimicking or -derived peptides have neuroprotective properties. For instance, systemic treatment with the FGL peptide (mimicking NCAM interaction with FGF receptors) reverses depression-like behavior in NCAM deficient mice, reduces neuroinflammation and neuroglial activation within the aged rat hippocampus and the age-related loss of synaptophysin immunoreactivity within CA3 and hilus, and attenuates Aß induced neuropathology and cognitive impairment that are hallmarks of Alzheimer's disease [236]. The latter effects are mediated by inhibition of the GSK3beta kinase activity. The mechanisms of polySia mimetic peptides are less clear, but several putative polySia binding molecules have been identified, including BDNF, NT-3 and NT-4 [237], FGF2 [238], GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors [196], and the humanspecific Siglec-11 [239], with prominent neuroprotective properties. It is particularly noteworthy that human Siglec-11 ectopically expressed on murine microglia and interacting with polySia on neurons reduces lipopolysaccharides-induced gene transcription of proinflammatory mediators, impairs phagocytosis, and alleviates microglial neurotoxicity [239].

## 6.3 PolySia in Demyelinating Disease and Remyelination

PolySia has been detected on chronically demyelinated axons in multiple sclerosis lesions, whereas remyelinated axons in so-called shadow plaques with partial repair were negative for polySia [240]. These data suggest that re-expression of polySia on axons could act as an inhibitor of remyelination. This is supported by the strong polySia immunoreactivity on axons of hypomyelinated white matter in a mouse model of Niemann-Pick disease type C [241] and by the persistence of polySia expression on unmyelinated fibers of the healthy rodent brain such as axons in the fimbria and in the mossy fiber tract of the hippocampal formation [77]. A hint that polySia expression interferes to at least some extent with myelin repair in vivo, was obtained by applying the mouse model of cuprizone-induced de- and remyelination to ST8SiaIV-deficient mice [242]. These mice have normal developmental myelination, and comply with the stereotyped pattern of white and gray matter demyelination described for mice fed with the neurotoxic copper chelator cuprizone [243, 244]. However, reexpression of several myelin markers and thus remyelination were accelerated in St8siaIV-knockout mice during the first week after withdrawal of the toxin. The effect has been assigned mainly to enhanced OPC differentiation and to a lesser extent to OPC recruitment [242]. The data are proof of the principle that targeting polysialyltransferases could be used to improve remyelination.

# 6.4 PolySia and Neuropsychiatric Disorders

#### 6.4.1 Altered NCAM and PolySia Levels in Neuropsychiatric Disorders

A long standing record links dysregulation of NCAM to the pathophysiology of schizophrenia and other neuropsychiatric disorders. As reviewed in detail elsewhere [245, 246], a number of studies found increased concentrations of NCAM fragments in either serum or cerebrospinal fluid of schizophrenic patients or in post-mortem brain including samples from hippocampus and cingulate cortex. Elevated levels of NCAM fragments were also detected in cerebrospinal fluid and post-mortem brain samples of patients with bipolar disorder – for review see [245, 246]. In autism, an early study reported a decrease in a small, 70-kDa serum fragment of NCAM [247]. This finding was not reproduced by a later study, which instead found a trend towards an increase of a 105-kDa to 115-kDa NCAM immunoreactive band corresponding to the major form of NCAM typically detected in human serum samples [248]. In addition, the same study reported lower levels of specifically the 180-kDa isoform in post-mortem samples of the cerebellar cortex. In most of the studies, however, the exact nature as well as possible sources of the NCAM fragments remains elusive. Concerning polySia, one small, but prominent study found moderate to severe reductions of polySia-positive cell numbers in the hilus of the dentate gyrus in eight out of ten post-mortem brains of medicated schizophrenic patients as compared to control brains [249]. Importantly, no significant difference was detected in the total numbers of cells in the hilus, and polySia immunoreactivity in the granular cell layer of the dentate gyrus was not apparently altered between schizophrenic and control brains. Furthermore, a recent immunohistochemical comparison of brain sections from psychiatric disorder patients indicates that polySia is not altered in the amygdala of schizophrenics but is reduced in depressed patients and increased in bipolar disorder [250].

#### 6.4.2 Genetic Associations

Schizophrenia has a high heritability and genome-wide association studies indicate a polygenic origin with a shared genetic liability between schizophrenia and bipolar disorder [251, 252]. NCAM1 and both polysialyltransferase genes map to chromosomal regions that harbor susceptibility loci for schizophrenia (11q23.1, 15q26, and 5q21 for NCAM1, ST8SIA2, and ST8SIA4, respectively) [253-255]. More telling, single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) in NCAM1 as well as in the promoter region of ST8SIA2, but not ST8SIA4, have been associated with schizophrenia [256–259]. Interestingly, risk haplotypes in the promoter region of ST8SIA2 were identified by two independent studies in the Japanese and the Han Chinese population [256, 259]. In vitro promoter assays with one of the risk-associated variants point towards enhanced transcriptional activity [256]. Recently, analysis of a point mutation detected heterozygously in just one schizophrenic patient in the Japanese sample revealed that the E141K substitution near the sialylmotif L leads to reduced activity and production of shorter polySia chains [260]. Other SNPs within NCAM1 have been found to contribute to the risk of bipolar disorder [257, 261] and a genome-wide association study in the Han Chinese population found a strong association of an SNP close to ST8SIA2 [262]. A genome-wide scan in an Italian population indicates a common susceptibility locus for schizophrenia and bipolar disorder in 15q26 including ST8SIA2 [263]. In this study, however, analysis of two SNPs in the promoter region of ST8SIA2, directly associated with schizophrenia in the Japanese sample [256], failed due to low allele frequencies in the European population and therefore, association with ST8SIA2 was not confirmed or ruled out [263]. Moreover, an exploratory analysis of a genome-wide association study of SNPs in more than 1,500 families with autism spectrum disorders (ASD) identified a strong association signal for an intronic SNP in ST8SIA2 in a subgroup of the ASD sample stratified by verbal status [264].

#### 6.4.3 Animal Models

Compelling evidence suggests that schizophrenia is associated with disturbed neurodevelopment resulting in altered brain connectivity [265, 266]. In light of the particularly strong links between the polySia-NCAM system and schizophrenia

in humans, the remarkable parallels between the phenotype of NCAM- or polySiadeficient mice and pathophysiological findings in schizophrenia merit a short survey. First, ventricular enlargement, one of the most abundant abnormalities in schizophrenia [267], has been reported for mice with specific deletion of NCAM-180 [268] and variable degrees of ventricular dilatations including cases of severe hydrocephalus were observed in  $II^{-/-}IV^{-/-}$  mice [154]. Second, smaller olfactory bulbs occur in schizophrenia [269] and  $N^{-/-}$  or  $II^{-/-}IV^{-/-}$  mice [153, 154]. Third, reductions of corpus callosum and internal capsule as found in schizophrenic patients [266, 270–273] correlate with deficits of these axon tracts in polysialylation-deficient mice [80, 165]. Importantly, the almost linear correlation of gross anatomical defects with the premature occurrence of polySia-free NCAM [165] (see Sect. 4.2 and Fig. 3) suggests that even minor imbalances of NCAM polysialylation during brain development lead to deficits of connectivity. Fourth, reminiscent of cognitive impairment in schizophrenia [274],  $N^{-/-}$  as well as polysialyltransferase-deficient  $II^{-/-}$  and  $IV^{-/-}$  mice display deficits in synaptic plasticity, learning, or memory formation (see Sects. 5.3 and 5.4) and one study reported reduced prepulse inhibition of acoustic startle in NCAM-180 knockout mice ([268], but see [275]). These animal models therefore highlight that genetic interference with the complex coordination of NCAM polysial vlation has the potential to cause a neurodevelopmental predisposition to schizophrenia and possibly other disorders.

Chronic stress is a well established model of anxiety and depressive-like behavior in rodents. Daily exposure of rats to restraint stress for 3 weeks causes an up-regulation of polySia levels in the hippocampus [276] and a transient increase of polySia-positive neurons in the dentate gyrus associated with suppression of proliferation and reduced numbers of granular cells [276, 277]. Interestingly, a recent study revealed increased vulnerability to restraint stress and depression-like behavior as well as impaired neurogenesis in the dentate gyrus of heat shock factor 1 (HSF1)-deficient mice associated with reduced polySia and polysialyltransferase mRNA levels in early postnatal stages [278]. Binding of HSF1 to the *St8siaII* and *St8siaIV* promoters suggests regulation through direct transcriptional control. Since enzymatic removal of polySia from the neonatal hippocampus also affects depression-like behavior, the data imply that polysialylation under the control of HSF1 is essential for hippocampal development and behavioral maturation [278].

A stress-induced increase of polySia-positive cells is also observed in the piriform cortex [279]. In contrast, chronic stress leads to reduced levels of polySia immuno-reactivity in the amygdala [280]. This was confirmed by a recent study showing that these changes can be attributed to altered polySia levels of interneurons, and are paralleled by lower mRNA levels of ST8SiaII and reduced expression of the GABAergic marker GAD67 [113]. Conversely, polySia and GAD67 are significantly increased in the amygdala of rats subjected to social isolation rearing, indicating that this model, which causes a behavioral phenotype with schizophrenia-like traits, is not reproducing the decrease of inhibitory markers found in the amygdala of schizophrenic patients [281].

Dysfunction of inhibitory neurotransmission and connectivity in the prefrontal cortex (PFC) are involved in the pathogenesis of schizophrenia and major

depression [282–284]. The medial PFC is particularly affected and in depression shows remodeling, which may be corrected by antidepressants. As discussed before (see Sect. 3.2), a series of studies show that polySia is specifically expressed by interneurons of the adult neocortex, and this holds true for the PFC in rodents and men [107, 109]. Strikingly, chronic antidepressant treatment with the selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor fluoxetine (Prozac<sup>®</sup>) increases polySia levels within the rat PFC [285–287] but also in other cortical areas [288]. Similar results have been obtained with another antidepressant, imipramine [289]. Likewise, a dopamine D2 receptor agonist increased, but the D2 receptor antagonist and antipsychotic drug haloperidol reduced polySia in the PFC [290]. Furthermore, polySia-positive interneurons show low levels of synaptic connectivity [114] and polySia seems to be required for the dopamine D2 receptor-mediated increase in perisomatic inhibition of principal neurons in the PFC of adult rats [291]. Collectively, these findings point towards polySia as a trigger of structural plasticity of inhibitory networks in the mature PFC. As shown in mice, polySia of interneurons in the mature PFC is exclusively produced by ST8SiaIV [142]. Thus, complementary to the potential role of dysfunctional ST8SiaII expression during brain development, altered NCAM polysialylation of cortical interneurons by ST8SiaIV may contribute to the etiology of neuropsychiatric disorders at later stages.

#### References

- 1. Jakobsson E, Schwarzer D, Jokilammi A et al (2012) Endosialidases: versatile tools for the study of polysialic acid. Top Curr Chem. doi:10.1007/128\_2012\_349 (e-pub ahead of print)
- 2. Troy FA (1992) Polysialylation: from bacteria to brains. Glycobiology 2:5-23
- 3. Mühlenhoff M, Eckhardt M, Gerardy-Schahn R (1998) Polysialic acid: three-dimensional structure, biosynthesis and function. Curr Opin Struct Biol 8:558–564
- Finne J (1982) Occurrence of unique polysialosyl carbohydrate units in glycoproteins of developing brain. J Biol Chem 257:11966–11970
- 5. Galuska SP, Geyer R, Gerardy-Schahn R et al (2008) Enzyme-dependent variations in the polysialylation of the neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM) in vivo. J Biol Chem 283:17–28
- Brisson JR, Baumann H, Imberty A et al (1992) Helical epitope of the group B meningococcal alpha(2–8)-linked sialic acid polysaccharide. Biochemistry 31:4996–5004
- 7. Baumann H, Brisson JR, Michon F et al (1993) Comparison of the conformation of the epitope of alpha (2–>8) polysialic acid with its reduced and *N*-acyl derivatives. Biochemistry 32:4007–4013
- Evans SV, Sigurskjold BW, Jennings HJ et al (1995) Evidence for the extended helical nature of polysaccharide epitopes. The 2.8 A resolution structure and thermodynamics of ligand binding of an antigen binding fragment specific for alpha-(2->8)-polysialic acid. Biochemistry 34:6737–6744
- Yang P, Yin X, Rutishauser U (1992) Intercellular space is affected by the polysialic acid content of NCAM. J Cell Biol 116:1487–1496
- Fujimoto I, Bruses JL, Rutishauser U (2001) Regulation of cell adhesion by polysialic acid: effects on cadherin, IgCAM and integrin function and independence from NCAM binding or signaling activity. J Biol Chem 276:31745–31751
- 11. Johnson CP, Fragneto G, Konovalov O et al (2005) Structural studies of the neural-celladhesion molecule by X-ray and neutron reflectivity. Biochemistry 44:546–554

- Johnson CP, Fujimoto I, Rutishauser U et al (2005) Direct evidence that neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM) polysialylation increases intermembrane repulsion and abrogates adhesion. J Biol Chem 280:137–145
- Jorgensen OS, Bock E (1974) Brain specific synaptosomal membrane proteins demonstrated by crossed immunoelectrophoresis. J Neurochem 23:879–880
- Edelman GM, Chuong CM (1982) Embryonic to adult conversion of neural cell adhesion molecules in normal and staggerer mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 79:7036–7040
- Rothbard JB, Brackenbury R, Cunningham BA et al (1982) Differences in the carbohydrate structures of neural cell-adhesion molecules from adult and embryonic chicken brains. J Biol Chem 257:11064–11069
- 16. Finne J, Finne U, Deagostini-Bazin H et al (1983) Occurrence of alpha 2–8 linked polysialosyl units in a neural cell adhesion molecule. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 112:482–487
- 17. Sadoul R, Hirn M, Deagostini-Bazin H et al (1983) Adult and embryonic mouse neural cell adhesion molecules have different binding properties. Nature 304:347–349
- Hoffman S, Edelman GM (1983) Kinetics of homophilic binding by embryonic and adult forms of neural cell adhesion molecule. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 80:5762–5766
- 19. Rutishauser U, Watanabe M, Silver J et al (1985) Specific alteration of NCAM-mediated cell adhesion by an endoneuraminidase. J Cell Biol 101:1842–1849
- 20. Rutishauser U, Acheson A, Hall AK et al (1988) The neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM) as a regulator of cell-cell interactions. Science 240:53–57
- Seidenfaden R, Krauter A, Schertzinger F et al (2003) Polysialic acid directs tumor cell growth by controlling heterophilic neural cell adhesion molecule interactions. Mol Cell Biol 23:5908–5918
- 22. Seidenfaden R, Krauter A, Hildebrandt H (2006) The neural cell adhesion molecule NCAM regulates neuritogenesis by multiple mechanisms of interaction. Neurochem Int 49:1–11
- Eggers K, Werneburg S, Schertzinger A et al (2011) Polysialic acid controls NCAM signals at cell-cell contacts to regulate focal adhesion independent from FGF receptor activity. J Cell Sci 124:3279–3291
- 24. Yabe U, Sato C, Matsuda T et al (2003) Polysialic acid in human milk. CD36 is a new member of mammalian polysialic acid-containing glycoprotein. J Biol Chem 278:13875–13880
- 25. Curreli S, Arany Z, Gerardy-Schahn R et al (2007) Polysialylated neuropilin-2 is expressed on the surface of human dendritic cells and modulates dendritic cell-T lymphocyte interactions. J Biol Chem 282:30346–30356
- 26. Rey-Gallardo A, Escribano C, Delgado-Martin C et al (2010) Polysialylated neuropilin-2 enhances human dendritic cell migration through the basic C-terminal region of CCL21. Glycobiology 20:1139–1146
- 27. Rey-Gallardo A, Delgado-Martin C, Gerardy-Schahn R et al (2011) Polysialic acid is required for neuropilin-2a/b-mediated control of CCL21-driven chemotaxis of mature dendritic cells and for their migration in vivo. Glycobiology 21:655–662
- Mühlenhoff M, Eckhardt M, Bethe A et al (1996) Autocatalytic polysialylation of polysialyltransferase-1. EMBO J 15:6943–6950
- Close BE, Colley KJ (1998) In vivo autopolysialylation and localization of the polysialyltransferases PST and STX. J Biol Chem 273:34586–34593
- Close BE, Tao K, Colley KJ (2000) Polysialyltransferase-1 autopolysialylation is not requisite for polysialylation of neural cell adhesion molecule. J Biol Chem 275:4484–4491
- 31. Close BE, Wilkinson JM, Bohrer TJ et al (2001) The polysialyltransferase ST8Sia II/STX: posttranslational processing and role of autopolysialylation in the polysialylation of neural cell adhesion molecule. Glycobiology 11:997–1008
- 32. Zuber C, Lackie PM, Catterall WA et al (1992) Polysialic acid is associated with sodium channels and the neural cell adhesion molecule N-CAM in adult rat brain. J Biol Chem 267:9965–9971

- 33. Galuska SP, Rollenhagen M, Kaup M et al (2010) Synaptic cell adhesion molecule SynCAM 1 is a target for polysialylation in postnatal mouse brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 107:10250–10255
- 35. Nakayama J, Fukuda MN, Fredette B et al (1995) Expression cloning of a human polysialyltransferase that forms the polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule present in embryonic brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92:7031–7035
- 36. Kojima N, Yoshida Y, Tsuji S (1995) A developmentally regulated member of the sialyltransferase family (ST8Sia II, STX) is a polysialic acid synthase. FEBS Lett 373:119–122
- 37. Scheidegger EP, Sternberg LR, Roth J et al (1995) A human STX cDNA confers polysialic acid expression in mammalian cells. J Biol Chem 270:22685–22688
- Livingston BD, Paulson JC (1993) Polymerase chain reaction cloning of a developmentally regulated member of the sialyltransferase gene family. J Biol Chem 268:11504–11507
- 39. Tsuji S, Datta AK, Paulson JC (1996) Systematic nomenclature for sialyltransferases. Glycobiology 6:R5–R7
- 40. Harduin-Lepers A, Vallejo-Ruiz V, Krzewinski-Recchi MA et al (2001) The human sialyltransferase family. Biochimie 83:727–737
- 41. Harduin-Lepers A, Mollicone R, Delannoy P et al (2005) The animal sialyltransferases and sialyltransferase-related genes: a phylogenetic approach. Glycobiology 15:805–817
- Datta AK, Paulson JC (1995) The sialyltransferase "sialylmotif" participates in binding the donor substrate CMP-NeuAc. J Biol Chem 270:1497–1500
- 43. Datta AK, Sinha A, Paulson JC (1998) Mutation of the sialyltransferase *S*-sialylmotif alters the kinetics of the donor and acceptor substrates. J Biol Chem 273:9608–9614
- 44. Nakata D, Zhang L, Troy FA (2006) Molecular basis for polysialylation: a novel polybasic polysialyltransferase domain (PSTD) of 32 amino acids unique to the alpha 2,8-polysialyltransferases is essential for polysialylation. Glycoconj J 23:423–436
- 45. Foley DA, Swartzentruber KG, Colley KJ (2009) Identification of sequences in the polysialyltransferases ST8Sia II and ST8Sia IV that are required for the protein-specific polysialylation of the neural cell adhesion molecule, NCAM. J Biol Chem 284:15505–15516
- 46. Zapater JL, Colley KJ (2012) Sequences prior to conserved catalytic motifs of the polysialyltransferase, ST8SiaIV, are required for substrate recognition. J Biol Chem 287:6441–6453
- 47. Windfuhr M, Manegold A, Mühlenhoff M et al (2000) Molecular defects that cause loss of polysialic acid in the complementation group 2A10. J Biol Chem 275:32861–32870
- Mühlenhoff M, Manegold A, Windfuhr M et al (2001) The impact of *N*-glycosylation on the functions of polysialyltransferases. J Biol Chem 276:34066–34073
- 49. Münster-Kühnel AK, Tiralongo J, Krapp S et al (2004) Structure and function of vertebrate CMP-sialic acid synthetases. Glycobiology 14:43R–51R
- 50. Kudo M, Kitajima K, Inoue S et al (1996) Characterization of the major core structures of the alpha 2–>8-linked polysialic acid-containing glycan chains present in neural cell adhesion molecule in embryonic chick brains. J Biol Chem 271:32667–32677
- Geyer H, Bahr U, Liedtke S et al (2001) Core structures of polysialylated glycans present in neural cell adhesion molecule from newborn mouse brain. Eur J Biochem 268:6587–6599
- 52. Liedtke S, Geyer H, Wuhrer M et al (2001) Characterization of *N*-glycans from mouse brain neural cell adhesion molecule. Glycobiology 11:373–384
- von der Ohe M, Wheeler SF, Wuhrer M et al (2002) Localization and characterization of polysialic acid-containing N-linked glycans from bovine NCAM. Glycobiology 12:47–63
- 54. Wuhrer M, Geyer H, von der Ohe M et al (2003) Localization of defined carbohydrate epitopes in bovine polysialylated NCAM. Biochimie 85:207–218
- 55. Mühlenhoff M, Eckhardt M, Bethe A et al (1996) Polysialylation of NCAM by a single enzyme. Curr Biol 6:1188–1191

- 56. Angata K, Suzuki M, Fukuda M (1998) Differential and cooperative polysialylation of the neural cell adhesion molecule by two polysialyltransferases, PST and STX. J Biol Chem 273:28524–28532
- 57. Nelson RW, Bates PA, Rutishauser U (1995) Protein determinants for specific polysialylation of the neural cell adhesion molecule. J Biol Chem 270:17171–17179
- Colley KJ (2010) Structural basis for the polysialylation of the neural cell adhesion molecule. Adv Exp Med Biol 663:111–126
- 59. Foley DA, Swartzentruber KG, Lavie A et al (2010) Structure and mutagenesis of neural cell adhesion molecule domains: evidence for flexibility in the placement of polysialic acid attachment sites. J Biol Chem 285:27360–27371
- 60. Thompson MG, Foley DA, Swartzentruber KG et al (2011) Sequences at the interface of the fifth immunoglobulin domain and first fibronectin type III repeat of the neural cell adhesion molecule are critical for its polysialylation. J Biol Chem 286:4525–4534
- 61. Park TU, Lucka L, Reutter W et al (1997) Turnover studies of the neural cell adhesion molecule NCAM: degradation of NCAM in PC12 cells depends on the presence of NGF. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 234:686–689
- 62. Minana R, Duran JM, Tomas M et al (2001) Neural cell adhesion molecule is endocytosed via a clathrin-dependent pathway. Eur J Neurosci 13:749–756
- 63. Diestel S, Schaefer D, Cremer H et al (2007) NCAM is ubiquitylated, endocytosed and recycled in neurons. J Cell Sci 120:4035–4049
- 64. Schiff M, Weinhold B, Grothe C et al (2009) NCAM and polysialyltransferase profiles match dopaminergic marker gene expression but polysialic acid is dispensable for development of the midbrain dopamine system. J Neurochem 110:1661–1673
- 65. Galuska SP, Oltmann-Norden I, Geyer H et al (2006) Polysialic acid profiles of mice expressing variant allelic combinations of the polysialyltransferases ST8SiaII and ST8SiaIV. J Biol Chem 281:31605–31615
- 66. Oltmann-Norden I, Galuska SP, Hildebrandt H et al (2008) Impact of the polysialyltransferases ST8SiaII and ST8SiaIV on polysialic acid synthesis during postnatal mouse brain development. J Biol Chem 283:1463–1471
- Probstmeier R, Bilz A, Schneider-Schaulies J (1994) Expression of the neural cell adhesion molecule and polysialic acid during early mouse embryogenesis. J Neurosci Res 37:324–335
- 68. Ong E, Nakayama J, Angata K et al (1998) Developmental regulation of polysialic acid synthesis in mouse directed by two polysialyltransferases, PST and STX. Glycobiology 8:415–424
- Bonfanti L (2006) PSA-NCAM in mammalian structural plasticity and neurogenesis. Prog Neurobiol 80:129–164
- 70. Li H, Babiarz J, Woodbury J et al (2004) Spatiotemporal heterogeneity of CNS radial glial cells and their transition to restricted precursors. Dev Biol 271:225–238
- Hekmat A, Bitter-Suermann D, Schachner M (1990) Immunocytological localization of the highly polysialylated form of the neural cell adhesion molecule during development of the murine cerebellar cortex. J Comp Neurol 291:457–467
- Bartsch U, Kirchhoff F, Schachner M (1990) Highly sialylated N-CAM is expressed in adult mouse optic nerve and retina. J Neurocytol 19:550–565
- 73. Kustermann S, Hildebrandt H, Bolz S et al (2010) Genesis of rods in the zebrafish retina occurs in a microenvironment provided by polysialic acid-expressing Muller glia. J Comp Neurol 518:636–646
- 74. Bonfanti L, Theodosis DT (1994) Expression of polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule by proliferating cells in the subependymal layer of the adult rat, in its rostral extension and in the olfactory bulb. Neuroscience 62:291–305
- Rousselot P, Nottebohm F (1995) Expression of polysialylated N-CAM in the central nervous system of adult canaries and its possible relation to function. J Comp Neurol 356:629–640
- 76. Seki T, Arai Y (1991) Expression of highly polysialylated NCAM in the neocortex and piriform cortex of the developing and the adult rat. Anat Embryol (Berl) 184:395–401

- 77. Seki T, Arai Y (1993) Distribution and possible roles of the highly polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM-H) in the developing and adult central nervous system. Neurosci Res 17:265–290
- Chung KY, Leung KM, Lin CC et al (2004) Regionally specific expression of L1 and sialylated NCAM in the retinofugal pathway of mouse embryos. J Comp Neurol 471:482–498
- 79. Daston MM, Bastmeyer M, Rutishauser U et al (1996) Spatially restricted increase in polysialic acid enhances corticospinal axon branching related to target recognition and innervation. J Neurosci 16:5488–5497
- Schiff M, Röckle I, Burkhardt H et al (2011) Thalamocortical pathfinding defects precede degeneration of the reticular thalamic nucleus in polysialic acid-deficient mice. J Neurosci 31:1302–1312
- Dityatev A, Dityateva G, Schachner M (2000) Synaptic strength as a function of post- versus presynaptic expression of the neural cell adhesion molecule NCAM. Neuron 26:207–217
- Dityatev A, Dityateva G, Sytnyk V et al (2004) Polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule promotes remodeling and formation of hippocampal synapses. J Neurosci 24:9372–9382
- Di Cristo G, Chattopadhyaya B, Kuhlman SJ et al (2007) Activity-dependent PSA expression regulates inhibitory maturation and onset of critical period plasticity. Nat Neurosci 10:1569–1577
- 84. Hildebrandt H, Becker C, Mürau M et al (1998) Heterogeneous expression of the polysialyltransferases ST8SiaII and ST8SiaIV during postnatal rat brain development. J Neurochem 71:2339–2348
- Brennaman LH, Maness PF (2008) Developmental regulation of GABAergic interneuron branching and synaptic development in the prefrontal cortex by soluble neural cell adhesion molecule. Mol Cell Neurosci 37:781–793
- 86. Belanger MC, Di Cristo G (2011) Sensory experience differentially modulates the mRNA expression of the polysialyltransferases ST8SiaII and ST8SiaIV in postnatal mouse visual cortex. PLoS One 6:e24874
- 87. Cox ET, Brennaman LH, Gable KL et al (2009) Developmental regulation of neural cell adhesion molecule in human prefrontal cortex. Neuroscience 162:96–105
- Franceschini I, Angata K, Ong E et al (2001) Polysialyltransferase ST8SiaII (STX) polysialylates all of the major isoforms of NCAM and facilitates neurite outgrowth. Glycobiology 11:231–239
- Bhat S, Silberberg DH (1986) Oligodendrocyte cell adhesion molecules are related to neural cell adhesion molecule (N-CAM). J Neurosci 6:3348–3354
- Bhat S, Silberberg DH (1988) Developmental expression of neural cell adhesion molecules of oligodendrocytes in vivo and in culture. J Neurochem 50:1830–1838
- 91. Trotter J, Bitter-Suermann D, Schachner M (1989) Differentiation-regulated loss of the polysialylated embryonic form and expression of the different polypeptides of the neural cell adhesion molecule by cultured oligodendrocytes and myelin. J Neurosci Res 22:369–383
- 92. Nait-Oumesmar B, Vignais L, Duhamel-Clerin E et al (1995) Expression of the highly polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule during postnatal myelination and following chemically induced demyelination of the adult mouse spinal cord. Eur J Neurosci 7:480–491
- Ben-Hur T, Rogister B, Murray K et al (1998) Growth and fate of PSA-NCAM + precursors of the postnatal brain. J Neurosci 18:5777–5788
- 94. Nait-Oumesmar B, Decker L, Lachapelle F et al (1999) Progenitor cells of the adult mouse subventricular zone proliferate, migrate and differentiate into oligodendrocytes after demyelination. Eur J Neurosci 11:4357–4366
- 95. Picard-Riera N, Decker L, Delarasse C et al (2002) Experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis mobilizes neural progenitors from the subventricular zone to undergo oligodendrogenesis in adult mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 99:13211–13216
- 96. Nait-Oumesmar B, Picard-Riera N, Kerninon C et al (2007) Activation of the subventricular zone in multiple sclerosis: evidence for early glial progenitors. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 104:4694–4699

- 97. Kornack DR, Rakic P (2001) The generation, migration, and differentiation of olfactory neurons in the adult primate brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98:4752–4757
- Ponti G, Aimar P, Bonfanti L (2006) Cellular composition and cytoarchitecture of the rabbit subventricular zone and its extensions in the forebrain. J Comp Neurol 498:491–507
- 99. Seki T, Arai Y (1991) The persistent expression of a highly polysialylated NCAM in the dentate gyrus of the adult rat. Neurosci Res 12:503–513
- 100. Seki T, Arai Y (1993) Highly polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM-H) is expressed by newly generated granule cells in the dentate gyrus of the adult rat. J Neurosci 13:2351–2358
- 101. Seki T (2002) Expression patterns of immature neuronal markers PSA-NCAM, CRMP-4 and NeuroD in the hippocampus of young adult and aged rodents. J Neurosci Res 70:327–334
- 102. Seki T (2002) Hippocampal adult neurogenesis occurs in a microenvironment provided by PSA-NCAM-expressing immature neurons. J Neurosci Res 69:772–783
- 103. Seri B, Garcia-Verdugo JM, Collado-Morente L et al (2004) Cell types, lineage, and architecture of the germinal zone in the adult dentate gyrus. J Comp Neurol 478:359–378
- 104. Seki T, Namba T, Mochizuki H et al (2007) Clustering, migration, and neurite formation of neural precursor cells in the adult rat hippocampus. J Comp Neurol 502:275–290
- 105. Bernier PJ, Vinet J, Cossette M et al (2000) Characterization of the subventricular zone of the adult human brain: evidence for the involvement of Bcl-2. Neurosci Res 37:67–78
- 106. Curtis MA, Kam M, Nannmark U et al (2007) Human neuroblasts migrate to the olfactory bulb via a lateral ventricular extension. Science 315:1243–1249
- 107. Knoth R, Singec I, Ditter M et al (2010) Murine features of neurogenesis in the human hippocampus across the lifespan from 0 to 100 years. PLoS One 5:e8809
- Varea E, Nacher J, Blasco-Ibanez JM et al (2005) PSA-NCAM expression in the rat medial prefrontal cortex. Neuroscience 136:435–443
- 109. Varea E, Castillo-Gomez E, Gomez-Climent MA et al (2007) PSA-NCAM expression in the human prefrontal cortex. J Chem Neuroanat 33:202–209
- 110. Nacher J, Alonso-Llosa G, Rosell D et al (2002) PSA-NCAM expression in the piriform cortex of the adult rat. Modulation by NMDA receptor antagonist administration. Brain Res 927:111–121
- 111. Nacher J, Blasco-Ibanez JM, McEwen BS (2002) Non-granule PSA-NCAM immunoreactive neurons in the rat hippocampus. Brain Res 930:1–11
- 112. Nacher J, Lanuza E, McEwen BS (2002) Distribution of PSA-NCAM expression in the amygdala of the adult rat. Neuroscience 113:479–484
- 113. Gilabert-Juan J, Castillo-Gomez E, Perez-Rando M et al (2011) Chronic stress induces changes in the structure of interneurons and in the expression of molecules related to neuronal structural plasticity and inhibitory neurotransmission in the amygdala of adult mice. Exp Neurol 232:33–40
- 114. Gomez-Climent MA, Guirado R, Castillo-Gomez E et al (2011) The polysialylated form of the neural cell adhesion molecule (PSA-NCAM) is expressed in a subpopulation of mature cortical interneurons characterized by reduced structural features and connectivity. Cereb Cortex 21:1028–1041
- 115. Gomez-Climent MA, Guirado R, Varea E et al (2010) "Arrested development". Immature, but not recently generated, neurons in the adult brain. Arch Ital Biol 148:159–172
- 116. Nacher J, Crespo C, McEwen BS (2001) Doublecortin expression in the adult rat telencephalon. Eur J Neurosci 14:629–644
- 117. Pekcec A, Loscher W, Potschka H (2006) Neurogenesis in the adult rat piriform cortex. Neuroreport 17:571–574
- 118. Gomez-Climent MA, Castillo-Gomez E, Varea E et al (2008) A population of prenatally generated cells in the rat paleocortex maintains an immature neuronal phenotype into adulthood. Cereb Cortex 18:2229–2240

- 119. Varea E, Belles M, Vidueira S et al. (2011) PSA-NCAM is expressed in immature, but not recently generated, neurons in the adult cat cerebral cortex layer II. Front Neurosci 5: Article 17. doi:10.3389/fnins.2011.00017
- 120. Luzzati F, Bonfanti L, Fasolo A et al (2009) DCX and PSA-NCAM expression identifies a population of neurons preferentially distributed in associative areas of different pallial derivatives and vertebrate species. Cereb Cortex 19:1028–1041
- 121. Gomez-Climent MA, Hernandez-Gonzalez S, Shionoya K et al (2011) Olfactory bulbectomy, but not odor conditioned aversion, induces the differentiation of immature neurons in the adult rat piriform cortex. Neuroscience 181:18–27
- 122. Bonfanti L, Olive S, Poulain DA et al (1992) Mapping of the distribution of polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule throughout the central nervous system of the adult rat: an immunohistochemical study. Neuroscience 49:419–436
- 123. Becker CG, Artola A, Gerardy-Schahn R et al (1996) The polysialic acid modification of the neural cell adhesion molecule is involved in spatial learning and hippocampal long-term potentiation. J Neurosci Res 45:143–152
- 124. O'Connell AW, Fox GB, Barry T et al (1997) Spatial learning activates neural cell adhesion molecule polysialytion in a corticohippocampal pathway within the medial temporal lobe. J Neurochem 68:2538–2546
- 125. Theodosis DT, Poulain DA, Oliet SH (2008) Activity-dependent structural and functional plasticity of astrocyte-neuron interactions. Physiol Rev 88:983–1008
- 126. Theodosis DT, Rougon G, Poulain DA (1991) Retention of embryonic features by an adult neuronal system capable of plasticity: polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule in the hypothalamo-neurohypophysial system. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 88:5494–5498
- 127. Nothias F, Vernier P, Von Boxberg Y et al (1997) Modulation of NCAM polysialylation is associated with morphofunctional modifications in the hypothalamo-neurohypophysial system during lactation. Eur J Neurosci 9:1553–1565
- 128. Theodosis DT, Bonhomme R, Vitiello S et al (1999) Cell surface expression of polysialic acid on NCAM is a prerequisite for activity-dependent morphological neuronal and glial plasticity. J Neurosci 19:10228–10236
- 129. Soares S, Von Boxberg Y, Ravaille-Veron M et al (2000) Morphofunctional plasticity in the adult hypothalamus induces regulation of polysialic acid-neural cell adhesion molecule through changing activity and expression levels of polysialyltransferases. J Neurosci 20:2551–2557
- 130. Hoyk Z, Parducz A, Theodosis DT (2001) The highly sialylated isoform of the neural cell adhesion molecule is required for estradiol-induced morphological synaptic plasticity in the adult arcuate nucleus. Eur J Neurosci 13:649–656
- 131. Monlezun S, Ouali S, Poulain DA et al (2005) Polysialic acid is required for active phases of morphological plasticity of neurosecretory axons and their glia. Mol Cell Neurosci 29:516–524
- 132. Kiss JZ, Wang C, Rougon G (1993) Nerve-dependent expression of high polysialic acid neural cell adhesion molecule in neurohypophysial astrocytes of adult rats. Neuroscience 53:213–221
- 133. Bolborea M, Laran-Chich MP, Rasri K et al (2011) Melatonin controls photoperiodic changes in tanycyte vimentin and neural cell adhesion molecule expression in the Djungarian hamster (*Phodopus sungorus*). Endocrinology 152:3871–3883
- 134. Le Gal La Salle G, Rougon G, Valin A (1992) The embryonic form of neural cell surface molecule (E-NCAM) in the rat hippocampus and its reexpression on glial cells following kainic acid-induced status epilepticus. J Neurosci 12:872–882
- 135. Nomura T, Yabe T, Rosenthal ES et al (2000) PSA-NCAM distinguishes reactive astrocytes in 6-OHDA-lesioned substantia nigra from those in the striatal terminal fields. J Neurosci Res 61:588–596
- 136. Camand E, Morel MP, Faissner A et al (2004) Long-term changes in the molecular composition of the glial scar and progressive increase of serotoninergic fibre sprouting after hemisection of the mouse spinal cord. Eur J Neurosci 20:1161–1176

- 137. Angata K, Nakayama J, Fredette B et al (1997) Human STX polysialyltransferase forms the embryonic form of the neural cell adhesion molecule – tissue-specific expression, neurite outgrowth, and chromosomal localization in comparison with another polysialyltransferase, PST. J Biol Chem 272:7182–7190
- Kurosawa N, Yoshida Y, Kojima N et al (1997) Polysialic acid synthase (ST8SiaII STX) mRNA expression in the developing mouse central nervous system. J Neurochem 69:494–503
- 139. Phillips GR, Krushel LA, Crossin KL (1997) Developmental expression of two rat sialyltransferases that modify the neural cell adhesion molecule, N-CAM. Dev Brain Res 102:143–155
- 140. Hildebrandt H, Becker C, Glüer S et al (1998) Polysialic acid on the neural cell adhesion molecule correlates with expression of polysialyltransferases and promotes neuroblastoma cell growth. Cancer Res 58:779–784
- 141. Eckhardt M, Bukalo O, Chazal G et al (2000) Mice deficient in the polysialyltransferase ST8SiaIV/PST-1 allow discrimination of the roles of neural cell adhesion molecule protein and polysialic acid in neural development and synaptic plasticity. J Neurosci 20:5234–5244
- 142. Nacher J, Guirado R, Varea E et al (2010) Divergent impact of the polysialyltransferases ST8SiaII and ST8SiaIV on polysialic acid expression in immature neurons and interneurons of the adult cerebral cortex. Neuroscience 167:825–837
- 143. Angata K, Long JM, Bukalo O et al (2004) Sialyltransferase ST8Sia-II assembles a subset of polysialic acid that directs hippocampal axonal targeting and promotes fear behavior. J Biol Chem 279:32603–32613
- 144. Neale SA, Trasler DG (1994) Early sialylation on N-CAM in splotch neural tube defect mouse embryos. Teratology 50:118–124
- 145. Mayanil CS, George D, Mania-Farnell B et al (2000) Overexpression of murine Pax3 increases NCAM polysialylation in a human medulloblastoma cell line. J Biol Chem 275:23259–23266
- 146. Mayanil CS, George D, Freilich L et al (2001) Microarray analysis detects novel Pax3 downstream target genes. J Biol Chem 276:49299–49309
- 147. Rabinowitz JE, Rutishauser U, Magnuson T (1996) Targeted mutation of Ncam to produce a secreted molecule results in a dominant embryonic lethality. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93:6421–6424
- 148. Ehlers K, Sturje H, Merker HJ et al (1992) Spina bifida aperta induced by valproic acid and by all-trans-retinoic acid in the mouse: distinct differences in morphology and periods of sensitivity. Teratology 46:117–130
- 149. Beecken WD, Engl T, Ogbomo H et al (2005) Valproic acid modulates NCAM polysialylation and polysialyltransferase mRNA expression in human tumor cells. Int Immunopharmacol 5:757–769
- 150. Lampen A, Grimaldi PA, Nau H (2005) Modulation of peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor delta activity affects neural cell adhesion molecule and polysialyltransferase ST8SiaIV induction by teratogenic valproic acid analogs in F9 cell differentiation. Mol Pharmacol 68:193–203
- 151. Seidenfaden R, Hildebrandt H (2001) Retinoic acid-induced changes in NCAM polysialylation and polysialyltransferase mRNA expression of human neuroblastoma cells. J Neurobiol 46:11–28
- 152. Tomasiewicz H, Ono K, Yee D et al (1993) Genetic deletion of a neural cell adhesion molecule variant (N-CAM-180) produces distinct defects in the central nervous system. Neuron 11:1163–1174
- 153. Cremer H, Lange R, Christoph A et al (1994) Inactivation of the N-CAM gene in mice results in size reduction of the olfactory bulb and deficits in spatial learning. Nature 367:455–459
- 154. Weinhold B, Seidenfaden R, Röckle I et al (2005) Genetic ablation of polysialic acid causes severe neurodevelopmental defects rescued by deletion of the neural cell adhesion molecule. J Biol Chem 280:42971–42977

- 155. Angata K, Huckaby V, Ranscht B et al (2007) Polysialic acid-directed migration and differentiation of neural precursors is essential for mouse brain development. Mol Cell Biol 27:6659–6668
- 156. Durbec P, Cremer H (2001) Revisiting the function of PSA-NCAM in the nervous system. Mol Neurobiol 24:53–64
- 157. Hildebrandt H, Mühlenhoff M, Weinhold B et al (2007) Dissecting polysialic acid and NCAM functions in brain development. J Neurochem 103(Suppl 1):56–64
- 158. Ono K, Tomasiewicz H, Magnuson T et al (1994) N-CAM mutation inhibits tangential neuronal migration and is phenocopied by enzymatic removal of polysialic acid. Neuron 13:595–609
- 159. Hu H, Tomasiewicz H, Magnuson T et al (1996) The role of polysialic acid in migration of olfactory bulb interneuron precursors in the subventricular zone. Neuron 16:735–743
- 160. Chazal G, Durbec P, Jankovski A et al (2000) Consequences of neural cell adhesion molecule deficiency on cell migration in the rostral migratory stream of the mouse. J Neurosci 20:1446–1457
- 161. Cremer H, Chazal G, Goridis C et al (1997) NCAM is essential for axonal growth and fasciculation in the hippocampus. Mol Cell Neurosci 8:323–335
- 162. Seki T, Rutishauser U (1998) Removal of polysialic acid-neural cell adhesion molecule induces aberrant mossy fiber innervation and ectopic synaptogenesis in the hippocampus. J Neurosci 18:3757–3766
- 163. Radyushkin K, Anokhin K, Meyer BI et al (2005) Genetic ablation of the mammillary bodies in the Foxb1 mutant mouse leads to selective deficit of spatial working memory. Eur J Neurosci 21:219–229
- 164. Rolf B, Bastmeyer M, Schachner M et al (2002) Pathfinding errors of corticospinal axons in neural cell adhesion molecule-deficient mice. J Neurosci 22:8357–8362
- 165. Hildebrandt H, Mühlenhoff M, Oltmann-Norden I et al (2009) Imbalance of neural cell adhesion molecule and polysialyltransferase alleles causes defective brain connectivity. Brain 132:2831–2838
- 166. Nishiyama A, Komitova M, Suzuki R et al (2009) Polydendrocytes (NG2 cells): multifunctional cells with lineage plasticity. Nat Rev Neurosci 10:9–22
- 167. Trotter J, Karram K, Nishiyama A (2010) NG2 cells: properties, progeny and origin. Brain Res Rev 63:72–82
- Biederer T, Sara Y, Mozhayeva M et al (2002) SynCAM, a synaptic adhesion molecule that drives synapse assembly. Science 297:1525–1531
- 169. Kukley M, Capetillo-Zarate E, Dietrich D (2007) Vesicular glutamate release from axons in white matter. Nat Neurosci 10:311–320
- 170. Ziskin JL, Nishiyama A, Rubio M et al (2007) Vesicular release of glutamate from unmyelinated axons in white matter. Nat Neurosci 10:321–330
- 171. Wang C, Rougon G, Kiss JZ (1994) Requirement of polysialic acid for the migration of the O-2A glial progenitor cell from neurohypophyseal explants. J Neurosci 14:4446–4457
- 172. Zhang H, Vutskits L, Calaora V et al (2004) A role for the polysialic acid-neural cell adhesion molecule in PDGF-induced chemotaxis of oligodendrocyte precursor cells. J Cell Sci 117:93–103
- 173. Glaser T, Brose C, Franceschini I et al (2007) Neural cell adhesion molecule polysialylation enhances the sensitivity of embryonic stem cell-derived neural precursors to migration guidance cues. Stem Cells 25:3016–3025
- 174. Decker L, Avellana-Adalid V, Nait-Oumesmar B et al (2000) Oligodendrocyte precursor migration and differentiation: combined effects of PSA residues, growth factors, and substrates. Mol Cell Neurosci 16:422–439
- 175. Decker L, Durbec P, Rougon G et al (2002) Loss of polysialic residues accelerates CNS neural precursor differentiation in pathological conditions. Mol Cell Neurosci 19:225–238
- 176. Franceschini I, Vitry S, Padilla F et al (2004) Migrating and myelinating potential of neural precursors engineered to overexpress PSA-NCAM. Mol Cell Neurosci 27:151–162

- 177. Charles P, Hernandez MP, Stankoff B et al (2000) Negative regulation of central nervous system myelination by polysialylated-neural cell adhesion molecule. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 97:7585–7590
- 178. Fewou SN, Ramakrishnan H, Bussow H et al (2007) Down-regulation of polysialic acid is required for efficient myelin formation. J Biol Chem 282:16700–16711
- 179. Doetsch F (2003) A niche for adult neural stem cells. Curr Opin Genet Dev 13:543-550
- 180. Kempermann G, Jessberger S, Steiner B et al (2004) Milestones of neuronal development in the adult hippocampus. Trends Neurosci 27:447–452
- 181. Petridis AK, El Maarouf A, Rutishauser U (2004) Polysialic acid regulates cell contactdependent neuronal differentiation of progenitor cells from the subventricular zone. Dev Dyn 230:675–684
- 182. Burgess A, Wainwright SR, Shihabuddin LS et al (2008) Polysialic acid regulates the clustering, migration, and neuronal differentiation of progenitor cells in the adult hippocampus. Dev Neurobiol 68:1580–1590
- 183. Röckle I, Seidenfaden R, Weinhold B et al (2008) Polysialic acid controls NCAM-induced differentiation of neuronal precursors into calretinin-positive olfactory bulb interneurons. Dev Neurobiol 68:1170–1184
- 184. Amoureux MC, Cunningham BA, Edelman GM et al (2000) N-CAM binding inhibits the proliferation of hippocampal progenitor cells and promotes their differentiation to a neuronal phenotype. J Neurosci 20:3631–3640
- 185. Kolkova K, Novitskaya V, Pedersen N et al (2000) Neural cell adhesion molecule-stimulated neurite outgrowth depends on activation of protein kinase C and the ras-mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway. J Neurosci 20:2238–2246
- 186. Cavallaro U, Niedermeyer J, Fuxa M et al (2001) N-CAM modulates tumour-cell adhesion to matrix by inducing FGF-receptor signalling. Nat Cell Biol 3:650–657
- 187. Niethammer P, Delling M, Sytnyk V et al (2002) Cosignaling of NCAM via lipid rafts and the FGF receptor is required for neuritogenesis. J Cell Biol 157:521–532
- 188. Hinsby AM, Lundfald L, Ditlevsen DK et al (2004) ShcA regulates neurite outgrowth stimulated by neural cell adhesion molecule but not by fibroblast growth factor 2: evidence for a distinct fibroblast growth factor receptor response to neural cell adhesion molecule activation. J Neurochem 91:694–703
- 189. Francavilla C, Cattaneo P, Berezin V et al (2009) The binding of NCAM to FGFR1 induces a specific cellular response mediated by receptor trafficking. J Cell Biol 187:1101–1116
- 190. Robles E, Gomez TM (2006) Focal adhesion kinase signaling at sites of integrin-mediated adhesion controls axon pathfinding. Nat Neurosci 9:1274–1283
- 191. Muller D, Wang C, Skibo G et al (1996) PSA-NCAM is required for activity-induced synaptic plasticity. Neuron 17:413–422
- 192. Dityatev A (2006) Synaptic functions of the neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM). In: Dityatev A, El Husseini A (eds) Molecular mechanisms of synaptogenesis. Springer, New York
- 193. Vogt J, Glumm R, Schluter L et al (2012) Homeostatic regulation of NCAM polysialylation is critical for correct synaptic targeting. Cell Mol Life Sci 69:1179–1191
- 194. Horstkorte R, Mühlenhoff M, Reutter W et al (2004) Selective inhibition of polysialyltransferase ST8SiaII by unnatural sialic acids. Exp Cell Res 298:268–274
- 195. Bouzioukh F, Tell F, Jean A et al (2001) NMDA receptor and nitric oxide synthase activation regulate polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule expression in adult brainstem synapses. J Neurosci 21:4721–4730
- 196. Kochlamazashvili G, Senkov O, Grebenyuk S et al (2010) Neural cell adhesion moleculeassociated polysialic acid regulates synaptic plasticity and learning by restraining the signaling through GluN2B-containing NMDA receptors. J Neurosci 30:4171–4183
- 197. Kochlamazashvili G, Bukalo O, Senkov O et al (2012) Restoration of synaptic plasticity and learning in young and aged NCAM-deficient mice by enhancing neurotransmission mediated by GluN2A-containing NMDA receptors. J Neurosci 32:2263–2275

- 198. Pillai-Nair N, Panicker AK, Rodriguiz RM et al (2005) Neural cell adhesion moleculesecreting transgenic mice display abnormalities in GABAergic interneurons and alterations in behavior. J Neurosci 25:4659–4671
- 199. Brennaman LH, Zhang X, Guan H et al (2012) Polysialylated NCAM and EphrinA/EphA regulate synaptic development of GABAergic interneurons in prefrontal cortex. Cereb Cortex. doi:10.1093/cercor/bhr392 (e-pub ahead of print)
- 200. Lüthi A, Laurent JP, Figurov A et al (1994) Hippocampal long-term potentiation and neural cell adhesion molecules L1 and NCAM. Nature 372:777–779
- 201. Bukalo O, Fentrop N, Lee AY et al (2004) Conditional ablation of the neural cell adhesion molecule reduces precision of spatial learning, long-term potentiation, and depression in the CA1 subfield of mouse hippocampus. J Neurosci 24:1565–1577
- 202. Cremer H, Chazal G, Carleton A et al (1998) Long-term but not short-term plasticity at mossy fiber synapses is impaired in neural cell adhesion molecule-deficient mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95:13242–13247
- 203. Stoenica L, Senkov O, Gerardy-Schahn R et al (2006) In vivo synaptic plasticity in the dentate gyrus of mice deficient in the neural cell adhesion molecule NCAM or its polysialic acid. Eur J Neurosci 23:2255–2264
- 204. Brennaman LH, Kochlamazashvili G, Stoenica L et al (2011) Transgenic mice overexpressing the extracellular domain of NCAM are impaired in working memory and cortical plasticity. Neurobiol Dis 43:372–378
- 205. Staubli U, Chun D, Lynch G (1998) Time-dependent reversal of long-term potentiation by an integrin antagonist. J Neurosci 18:3460–3469
- 206. Fux CM, Krug M, Dityatev A et al (2003) NCAM180 and glutamate receptor subtypes in potentiated spine synapses: an immunogold electron microscopic study. Mol Cell Neurosci 24:939–950
- 207. Vaithianathan T, Matthias K, Bahr B et al (2004) Neural cell adhesion molecule-associated polysialic acid potentiates alpha-amino-3-hydroxy-5-methylisoxazole-4-propionic acid receptor currents. J Biol Chem 279:47975–47984
- 208. Senkov O, Sun M, Weinhold B et al (2006) Polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule is involved in induction of long-term potentiation and memory acquisition and consolidation in a fear-conditioning paradigm. J Neurosci 26:10888–10898
- 209. Hammond MS, Sims C, Parameshwaran K et al (2006) NCAM associated polysialic acid inhibits NR2B-containing NMDA receptors and prevents glutamate-induced cell death. J Biol Chem 281:34859–34869
- 210. Li S, Tian X, Hartley DM et al (2006) Distinct roles for Ras-guanine nucleotide-releasing factor 1 (Ras-GRF1) and Ras-GRF2 in the induction of long-term potentiation and long-term depression. J Neurosci 26:1721–1729
- 211. Butler MP, O'Connor JJ, Moynagh PN (2004) Dissection of tumor-necrosis factor-alpha inhibition of long-term potentiation (LTP) reveals a p38 mitogen-activated protein kinasedependent mechanism which maps to early-but not late-phase LTP. Neuroscience 124:319–326
- 212. Empson RM, Buckby LE, Kraus M et al (2006) The cell adhesion molecule neuroplastin-65 inhibits hippocampal long-term potentiation via a mitogen-activated protein kinase p38-dependent reduction in surface expression of GluR1-containing glutamate receptors. J Neurochem 99:850–860
- 213. Hsieh H, Boehm J, Sato C et al (2006) AMPAR removal underlies Abeta-induced synaptic depression and dendritic spine loss. Neuron 52:831–843
- 214. Bukalo O, Schachner M, Dityatev A (2007) Hippocampal metaplasticity induced by deficiency in the extracellular matrix glycoprotein tenascin-R. J Neurosci 27:6019–6028
- Murphy KJ, Oconnell AW, Regan CM (1996) Repetitive and transient increases in hippocampal neural cell adhesion molecule polysialylation state following multitrial spatial training. J Neurochem 67:1268–1274

- 216. Ni Dhuill CM, Fox GB, Pittock SJ et al (1999) Polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule expression in the dentate gyrus of the human hippocampal formation from infancy to old age. J Neurosci Res 55:99–106
- 217. Sandi C, Merino JJ, Cordero MI et al (2003) Modulation of hippocampal NCAM polysialylation and spatial memory consolidation by fear conditioning. Biol Psychiatry 54:599–607
- 218. Venero C, Herrero AI, Touyarot K et al (2006) Hippocampal up-regulation of NCAM expression and polysialylation plays a key role on spatial memory. Eur J Neurosci 23:1585–1595
- 219. Arami S, Jucker M, Schachner M et al (1996) The effect of continuous intraventricular infusion of L1 and NCAM antibodies on spatial learning in rats. Behav Brain Res 81:81–87
- 220. Stork O, Welzl H, Wolfer D et al (2000) Recovery of emotional behaviour in neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM) null mutant mice through transgenic expression of NCAM180 (in process citation). Eur J Neurosci 12:3291–3306
- Bisaz R, Sandi C (2012) Vulnerability of conditional NCAM-deficient mice to develop stressinduced behavioral alterations. Stress 15:195–206
- 222. Markram K, Gerardy-Schahn R, Sandi C (2007) Selective learning and memory impairments in mice deficient for polysialylated NCAM in adulthood. Neuroscience 144:788–796
- 223. Florian C, Foltz J, Norreel JC et al (2006) Post-training intrahippocampal injection of synthetic poly-alpha-2,8-sialic acid-neural cell adhesion molecule mimetic peptide improves spatial long-term performance in mice. Learn Mem 13:335–341
- 224. Mikkonen M, Soininen H, Kalvianen R et al (1998) Remodeling of neuronal circuitries in human temporal lobe epilepsy: increased expression of highly polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule in the hippocampus and the entorhinal cortex. Ann Neurol 44:923–934
- 225. Pekcec A, Mühlenhoff M, Gerardy-Schahn R et al (2007) Impact of the PSA-NCAM system on pathophysiology in a chronic rodent model of temporal lobe epilepsy. Neurobiol Dis 27:54–66
- 226. Pekcec A, Fuest C, Mühlenhoff M et al (2008) Targeting epileptogenesis-associated induction of neurogenesis by enzymatic depolysialylation of NCAM counteracts spatial learning dysfunction but fails to impact epilepsy development. J Neurochem 105:389–400
- 227. Pekcec A, Weinhold B, Gerardy-Schahn R et al (2010) Polysialic acid affects pathophysiological consequences of status epilepticus. Neuroreport 21:549–553
- 228. Garcia-Morales I, de la Pena MP, Kanner AM (2008) Psychiatric comorbidities in epilepsy: identification and treatment. Neurologist 14:S15–S25
- Duveau V, Fritschy JM (2010) PSA-NCAM-dependent GDNF signaling limits neurodegeneration and epileptogenesis in temporal lobe epilepsy. Eur J Neurosci 32:89–98
- 230. Duveau V, Arthaud S, Rougier A et al (2007) Polysialylation of NCAM is upregulated by hyperthermia and participates in heat shock preconditioning-induced neuroprotection. Neurobiol Dis 26:385–395
- 231. Yew DT, Li WP, Webb SE et al (1999) Neurotransmitters, peptides, and neural cell adhesion molecules in the cortices of normal elderly humans and Alzheimer patients: a comparison. Exp Gerontol 34:117–133
- 232. Mikkonen M, Soininen H, Tapiola T et al (1999) Hippocampal plasticity in Alzheimer's disease: changes in highly polysialylated NCAM immunoreactivity in the hippocampal formation. Eur J Neurosci 11:1754–1764
- 233. Limon ID, Ramirez E, Diaz A et al (2011) Alteration of the sialylation pattern and memory deficits by injection of Abeta (25–35) into the hippocampus of rats. Neurosci Lett 495:11–16
- 234. Thomas SN, Soreghan BA, Nistor M et al (2005) Reduced neuronal expression of synaptic transmission modulator HNK-1/neural cell adhesion molecule as a potential consequence of amyloid beta-mediated oxidative stress: a proteomic approach. J Neurochem 92:705–717
- 235. Mehanna A, Jakovcevski I, Acar A et al (2010) Polysialic acid glycomimetic promotes functional recovery and plasticity after spinal cord injury in mice. Mol Ther 18:34–43
- 236. Berezin V, Bock E (2010) NCAM mimetic peptides: an update. Adv Exp Med Biol 663:337–353

- 237. Kanato Y, Kitajima K, Sato C (2008) Direct binding of polysialic acid to a brain-derived neurotrophic factor depends on the degree of polymerization. Glycobiology 18:1044–1053
- 238. Ono S, Hane M, Kitajima K et al (2012) Novel regulation of fibroblast growth factor 2 (FGF2)-mediated cell growth by polysialic acid. J Biol Chem 287:3710–3722
- 239. Wang Y, Neumann H (2010) Alleviation of neurotoxicity by microglial human Siglec-11. J Neurosci 30:3482–3488
- 240. Charles P, Reynolds R, Seilhean D et al (2002) Re-expression of PSA-NCAM by demyelinated axons: an inhibitor of remyelination in multiple sclerosis? Brain 125:1972–1979
- 241. Takikita S, Fukuda T, Mohri I et al (2004) Perturbed myelination process of premyelinating oligodendrocyte in Niemann–Pick type C mouse. J Neuropathol Exp Neurol 63:660–673
- 242. Koutsoudaki PN, Hildebrandt H, Gudi V et al (2010) Remyelination after cuprizone induced demyelination is accelerated in mice deficient in the polysialic acid synthesizing enzyme St8siaIV. Neuroscience 171:235–244
- 243. Koutsoudaki PN, Skripuletz T, Gudi V et al (2009) Demyelination of the hippocampus is prominent in the cuprizone model. Neurosci Lett 451:83–88
- 244. Skripuletz T, Gudi V, Hackstette D et al (2011) De- and remyelination in the CNS white and grey matter induced by cuprizone: the old, the new, and the unexpected. Histol Histopathol 26:1585–1597
- Vawter MP (2000) Dysregulation of the neural cell adhesion molecule and neuropsychiatric disorders. Eur J Pharmacol 405:385–395
- 246. Brennaman LH, Maness PF (2010) NCAM in neuropsychiatric and neurodegenerative disorders. Adv Exp Med Biol 663:299–317
- 247. Plioplys AV, Hemmens SE, Regan CM (1990) Expression of a neural cell adhesion molecule serum fragment is depressed in autism. J Neuropsychiatry Clin Neurosci 2:413–417
- 248. Purcell AE, Rocco MM, Lenhart JA et al (2001) Assessment of neural cell adhesion molecule (NCAM) in autistic serum and postmortem brain. J Autism Dev Disord 31:183–194
- 249. Barbeau D, Liang JJ, Robitalille Y et al (1995) Decreased expression of the embryonic form of the neural cell adhesion molecule in schizophrenic brains. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 92:2785–2789
- 250. Varea E, Guirado R, Gilabert-Juan J et al (2012) Expression of PSA-NCAM and synaptic proteins in the amygdala of psychiatric disorder patients. J Psychiatr Res 46:189–197
- 251. Purcell SM, Wray NR, Stone JL et al (2009) Common polygenic variation contributes to risk of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder. Nature 460:748–752
- 252. Stefansson H, Ophoff RA, Steinberg S et al (2009) Common variants conferring risk of schizophrenia. Nature 460:744–747
- 253. Lewis CM, Levinson DF, Wise LH et al (2003) Genome scan meta-analysis of schizophrenia and bipolar disorder, part II: schizophrenia. Am J Hum Genet 73:34–48
- 254. Lindholm E, Aberg K, Ekholm B et al (2004) Reconstruction of ancestral haplotypes in a 12-generation schizophrenia pedigree. Psychiatr Genet 14:1–8
- 255. Maziade M, Roy MA, Chagnon YC et al (2005) Shared and specific susceptibility loci for schizophrenia and bipolar disorder: a dense genome scan in Eastern Quebec families. Mol Psychiatry 10:486–499
- 256. Arai M, Yamada K, Toyota T et al (2006) Association between polymorphisms in the promoter region of the sialyltransferase 8B (SIAT8B) gene and schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 59:652–659
- 257. Atz ME, Rollins B, Vawter MP (2007) NCAM1 association study of bipolar disorder and schizophrenia: polymorphisms and alternatively spliced isoforms lead to similarities and differences. Psychiatr Genet 17:55–67
- 258. Sullivan PF, Keefe RS, Lange LA et al (2007) NCAM1 and neurocognition in schizophrenia. Biol Psychiatry 61:902–910
- 259. Tao R, Li C, Zheng Y et al (2007) Positive association between SIAT8B and schizophrenia in the Chinese Han population. Schizophr Res 90:108–114

- 260. Isomura R, Kitajima K, Sato C (2011) Structural and functional impairments of polysialic acid by a mutated polysialyltransferase found in schizophrenia. J Biol Chem 286:21535–21545
- 261. Arai M, Itokawa M, Yamada K et al (2004) Association of neural cell adhesion molecule 1 gene polymorphisms with bipolar affective disorder in Japanese individuals. Biol Psychiatry 55:804–810
- 262. Lee MT, Chen CH, Lee CS et al (2011) Genome-wide association study of bipolar I disorder in the Han Chinese population. Mol Psychiatry 16:548–556
- 263. Vazza G, Bertolin C, Scudellaro E et al (2007) Genome-wide scan supports the existence of a susceptibility locus for schizophrenia and bipolar disorder on chromosome 15q26. Mol Psychiatry 12:87–93
- 264. Anney R, Klei L, Pinto D et al (2010) A genome-wide scan for common alleles affecting risk for autism. Hum Mol Genet 19:4072–4082
- 265. Lewis DA, Levitt P (2002) Schizophrenia as a disorder of neurodevelopment. Annu Rev Neurosci 25:409–432
- 266. Begre S, Koenig T (2008) Cerebral disconnectivity: an early event in schizophrenia. Neuroscientist 14:19–45
- 267. Shenton ME, Dickey CC, Frumin M et al (2001) A review of MRI findings in schizophrenia. Schizophr Res 49:1–52
- 268. Wood GK, Tomasiewicz H, Rutishauser U et al (1998) NCAM-180 knockout mice display increased lateral ventricle size and reduced prepulse inhibition of startle. Neuroreport 9:461–466
- 269. Turetsky BI, Moberg PJ, Yousem DM et al (2000) Reduced olfactory bulb volume in patients with schizophrenia. Am J Psychiatry 157:828–830
- 270. Innocenti GM, Ansermet F, Parnas J (2003) Schizophrenia, neurodevelopment and corpus callosum. Mol Psychiatry 8:261–274
- 271. Hulshoff Pol HE, Schnack HG, Mandl RC et al (2004) Focal white matter density changes in schizophrenia: reduced inter-hemispheric connectivity. Neuroimage 21:27–35
- 272. Douaud G, Smith S, Jenkinson M et al (2007) Anatomically related grey and white matter abnormalities in adolescent-onset schizophrenia. Brain 130:2375–2386
- 273. Mitelman SA, Torosjan Y, Newmark RE et al (2007) Internal capsule, corpus callosum and long associative fibers in good and poor outcome schizophrenia: a diffusion tensor imaging survey. Schizophr Res 92:211–224
- 274. Barch DM (2005) The cognitive neuroscience of schizophrenia. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 1:321–353
- 275. Plappert CF, Schachner M, Pilz PK (2005) Neural cell adhesion molecule-null mice are not deficient in prepulse inhibition of the startle response. Neuroreport 16:1009–1012
- 276. Sandi C, Merino JJ, Cordero MI et al (2001) Effects of chronic stress on contextual fear conditioning and the hippocampal expression of the neural cell adhesion molecule, its polysialylation, and L1. Neuroscience 102:329–339
- 277. Pham K, Nacher J, Hof PR et al (2003) Repeated restraint stress suppresses neurogenesis and induces biphasic PSA-NCAM expression in the adult rat dentate gyrus. Eur J Neurosci 17:879–886
- 278. Uchida S, Hara K, Kobayashi A et al (2011) Impaired hippocampal spinogenesis and neurogenesis and altered affective behavior in mice lacking heat shock factor 1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 108:1681–1686
- 279. Nacher J, Pham K, Gil-Fernandez V et al (2004) Chronic restraint stress and chronic corticosterone treatment modulate differentially the expression of molecules related to structural plasticity in the adult rat piriform cortex. Neuroscience 126:503–509
- Cordero MI, Rodriguez JJ, Davies HA et al (2005) Chronic restraint stress down-regulates amygdaloid expression of polysialylated neural cell adhesion molecule. Neuroscience 133:903–910

- 281. Gilabert-Juan J, Molto MD, Nacher J (2012) Post-weaning social isolation rearing influences the expression of molecules related to inhibitory neurotransmission and structural plasticity in the amygdala of adult rats. Brain Res 1448:129–136. doi:10.1016/j.brainres.2012.01.073
- Lewis DA, Sweet RA (2009) Schizophrenia from a neural circuitry perspective: advancing toward rational pharmacological therapies. J Clin Invest 119:706–716
- 283. Castren E (2005) Is mood chemistry? Nat Rev Neurosci 6:241-246
- 284. McEwen BS, Eiland L, Hunter RG et al (2012) Stress and anxiety: structural plasticity and epigenetic regulation as a consequence of stress. Neuropharmacology 62:3–12
- 285. Varea E, Blasco-Ibanez JM, Gomez-Climent MA et al (2007) Chronic fluoxetine treatment increases the expression of PSA-NCAM in the medial prefrontal cortex. Neuropsychopharmacology 32:803–812
- 286. Varea E, Castillo-Gomez E, Gomez-Climent MA et al (2007) Chronic antidepressant treatment induces contrasting patterns of synaptophysin and PSA-NCAM expression in different regions of the adult rat telencephalon. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol 17:546–557
- 287. Guirado R, Sanchez-Matarredona D, Varea E et al (2012) Chronic fluoxetine treatment in middle-aged rats induces changes in the expression of plasticity-related molecules and in neurogenesis. BMC Neurosci 13:5
- 288. Guirado R, Varea E, Castillo-Gomez E et al (2009) Effects of chronic fluoxetine treatment on the rat somatosensory cortex: activation and induction of neuronal structural plasticity. Neurosci Lett 457:12–15
- 289. Sairanen M, O'Leary OF, Knuuttila JE et al (2007) Chronic antidepressant treatment selectively increases expression of plasticity-related proteins in the hippocampus and medial prefrontal cortex of the rat. Neuroscience 144:368–374
- 290. Castillo-Gomez E, Gomez-Climent MA, Varea E et al (2008) Dopamine acting through D2 receptors modulates the expression of PSA-NCAM, a molecule related to neuronal structural plasticity, in the medial prefrontal cortex of adult rats. Exp Neurol 214:97–111
- 291. Castillo-Gomez E, Varea E, Blasco-Ibanez JM et al (2011) Polysialic acid is required for dopamine D2 receptor-mediated plasticity involving inhibitory circuits of the rat medial prefrontal cortex. PLoS One 6:e29516